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Statement of the Management of the Bank  

General information on AS “SEB banka”  

“SEB banka” (the Bank) is a joint-stock company registered in the Republic of Latvia (registered office: Meistaru iela 1, 

Valdlauči, Ķekava parish, Ķekava county, LV-1076, Latvia; uniform registration number: LV 40003151743; the credit 

institution operating licence issued on 23 September 1993, licence registry No. 06.01.05.011/242).  

The Bank and its subsidiaries (the Group) are engaged in providing banking and financial services. The parent company of 
the Bank and the Group is the bank Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) registered in Sweden.  

Group companies: 

SIA “SEB līzings” 

SEB finanšu centrs, Meistaru iela 1, Valdlauči, Ķekavas parish, Ķekavas county, LV-1076 
Uniform registration number: 50003334041 

seblizings@seb.lv 

IPAS “SEB Investment Management” 

Antonijas iela 9-12, Riga, LV-1010 
Uniform registration number: 40003525797 

investment.management@seb.lv 

AS “SEB atklātais pensiju fonds” 

Antonijas iela 9, Riga, LV-1010 
Uniform registration number: 40003485047 

pensija@seb.lv 

Business sustainability  

Business objectives 

The long-term objective of the Bank is to be the leading bank in the Baltics excelling in customer service. This objective is 
supported by our vision, i.e., to provide world-class service to customers. The Bank has been pursuing this long-term 

objective concurrently with balanced business returns and handy remote solutions for its customers, which enable use of 

financial services wherever our customers are. 

In the retail business and small and medium-sized business segments, the following medium-term objectives have been 
defined: ensuring sustainable and balanced growth in financing and improving customer service models across all 

customer segments through the use of the new customer service tools created for customers in recent years, including in 

2019. As we have underlined in our business objectives, the Bank plays a significant role in creating a transparent business 

environment. We will therefore continue to cooperate with our customers with a view to assessing their impact on 
environmental, social and governance principles. This assessment forms a part of the responsibility imposed on the Bank 

of knowing its customers. In this customer segment, our goal is to be a professional advisor and support in meeting financial 

needs.  

In the large companies segment, the Bank aims to be the leading bank for large companies operating in Latvia. The Bank 
has an objective of ensuring such growth in lending, which underlies sustainable, environmentally friendly and socially 

significant progress.  

Governance principles 

In 2019, the Bank continued to strengthen its compliance with good governance principles. The Bank’s operating principles 
described in the Business Code of Conduct Policy and areas of focus, such as corporate governance, responsible and 

ethical behaviour, respecting the confidentiality of information, open communication, managing conflicts of interest, safe 

and healthy work environment, ensuring compliance and internal reporting represent only a part of the principles guiding 

us in our daily work.  

In the field of anti-money laundering and terrorist financing, we have strengthened our oversight mechanisms by investing 

significant resources in this field, including strengthening our team and IT systems. On 20 December 2019, the Bank and 

the supervisor of the Latvian financial sector, i.e., the Financial and Capital Market Commission agreed on completing the 

supervisory review commenced in the third quarter of 2017 in two cases: a review in the case of implementing by the 
Bank of the Fourth Anti-Money Laundering Directive (AML4) in 2017 and in the case concerning cooperation with a 

particular customer related to compliance with EU sanctions. The Bank paid an administrative fine of EUR 1.8 million, 

considering the aspects identified by the supervisor, most of which had been eliminated before the review case was 

completed. The Bank has been carrying on its work aimed at strengthening the principles in the fields of AML and KYC, 
taking into consideration the national regulatory frameworks and the principles of international sanctions. 
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Statement of the Management of the Bank (continued) 

Operating environment  

Financial sector 

The year 2019 was marked by rapid developments in the banking sector, ranging from the matters of financial market 

supervision and a focus on anti-money laundering activities to the development of a new Open Banking platform and 

replacement of code cards as an authorization means. The key efforts of the reporting year were aimed at fixing the sector 
with a view to eliminating the deficiencies and preparing for the country-wide assessment by Moneyval and Financial 

Action Task Force (FATF).  

The economy as a whole  

The Latvian sectors that are dependent on the external environment have been coping with the challenges relatively 
successfully, and there is a reason to expect that this will continue in 2020. The inflow of EU funds has reached its peak, 

and entrepreneurs have been slightly more cautious in their planning. In 2020, GDP is expected to be 2%, whereas in 

2021, it will recover to 2.5%. In 2019, inflation reached 2.8%. In 2020, inflation will reach 2.1% due to slower growth 

and external factors. 

The sudden expectations of the economic slowdown and slower growth have affected the sentiment and development 

plans of entrepreneurs. The labour market has become regional and has been dictating its terms. The inertia of a strong 

wage growth can last long enough despite the macroeconomic trends. In the third quarter of 2019, the unemployment 

rate in Latvia fell to 6%. In the third quarter of 2019, the unemployment rate was exactly the same as 13 years ago, i.e., 
in the third quarter of 2006. It had fallen to a lower point, to 5.6% and 5.3% respectively, for a very brief moment in the 

third and fourth quarters of 2007. While the employment rate is rising, the number of the employed continues to decline.  

Business environment 

The results of the survey of finance directors of large Baltic companies carried out in September 2019 suggest that most 
large Baltic companies are cautious in their forecasts regarding business growth over the next 12 months. In the global 

context, the greatest concern for businesses is the potential new crisis in the Eurozone, as well as for the still strained 

relations between the US and China. At the same time, big companies feel financially stable. 74% of large Latvian 

companies rated their financial position as good or very good. In addition, every other company would continue to invest 
their free funds. 

Risk management 

During the reporting year, the Bank continued to have a focus on risk management. In the field of operational risks, the 

Bank has made investments aimed at the elimination of IT risks and cyber risks, considering the impact of these risks on 
the Bank’s operations. Investments in the system development, process improvement and an increase in the number of 

staff in the fields of AML and KYC were among the most significant investments during the reporting year. Liquidity risk is 

well managed as suggested by the improvement of the loan/deposit indicator, i.e., from 110% at the end of 2018 to 98% 

at the end of 2019. This was because deposits grew faster than the loan portfolio. Governance and good reputation 
aspects are given much more weight in risk assessment. During the reporting year, the Bank repeatedly expressed this 

position to public in the context of credit risk management. In order to gradually raise awareness of the significance of 

these issues, during the reporting year, Business Sustainability Committee was set up in the customer service business 

structures with a view to having timely updates on the impact by the customers funded by the Bank or potential customers 
on the public and environment.  

Close attention is also paid to interest rate risk, in view of the negative interest rate policy pursued by the ECB, which 

affected the Bank’s operating principles and pricing of its services.  

Business performance 

Customers and the activity thereof 

Dynamics of the number of customers 

During the reporting year, the Bank started cooperation with 19,600 customers, which represents an increase of 8% 

compared to 2018. 14% of the new customers are aged 18 to 25 years. 87% of the new customers are retail customers 

and 13% of them are corporate customers. Overall, the Bank provides services to nearly 400,000 individuals who use 
banking services on a regular basis, 28,000 small and medium-sized companies and 165 large companies.  
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Statement of the Management of the Bank (continued) 

Lending activity 

During the reporting year, the Bank issued loans of EUR 596 million, maintaining a steady growth of its total loan portfolio, 

which was facilitated by ALTUM programme guarantees for young families and professionals in the retail segment. In 

2019, the lending portfolio increased by 2%. Demand for financing had increased by 7% and 1% in the retail segment 
and the SME segment, respectively. In 2019, the Bank issued 1,469 loans to students or approximately EUR 9.4 million, 

which were guaranteed by the State. Of the loans granted, 83% were study loans for covering tuition fees, and 17% were 

student loans for covering everyday expenses. According to the data of the third quarter of 2019, the Bank was the third 

largest provider of finance in the financial sector, demonstrating the largest increase (3.9%) in loans issued to individuals 
compared with the market increase (2.7%). In the corporate segment, the Bank’s cooperation with Salaspils Siltums 

deserves highlighting. The company implemented a green infrastructure project unprecedented in the Baltics aimed at 

reducing the carbon footprint and environmental impact with the help of solar panels. During the reporting year, the Bank 

also cooperated on multi-apartment dwelling house renovation projects in Olaine, Liepaja and Valmiera. 

Deposits 

In 2019, customer deposits increased significantly. Deposits by businesses increased by 22% compared to 2018, while 

savings by individuals and balances on current accounts with the Bank increased by nearly 10%. In terms of deposits, 

according to the industry data, at the end of the third quarter of 2019, an increase in deposits with the Bank and in current 
account balances was greater than the average for the financial sector, i.e., 9.8% compared with 1.3%, respectively. 

Financial performance  

The Group’s performance for the reporting year was a consolidated profit of EUR 50 million, an increase of 2% compared 

to 2018. Net interest income increased by 7% during the reporting year, whereas commission income increased by 4%. 
An increase in costs by 8% was due to both the increase in the costs of ensuring supervision and the payment of the 

administrative fine. During the reporting year, the Bank created provisions of EUR 5.3 million for the long-term risk 

management purposes. At 31 December 2019, the Bank’s capital adequacy ratio was stable at 17.98% (the Group’s: 

17.33%), above the 8% required level, and the liquidity coverage ratio was 151.20% (the Group’s: 176.33%), which is 
above the 100% required level. In 2019, the Bank’s consolidated return on assets was 1.3%, whereas return on capital 

was 13.1%. During the reporting year, the Bank paid over EUR 12 million in taxes. The Management Board of the Bank 

decided not to disburse dividends for the reporting year and retain the profit, in view of the planned long-term business 

growth and development. 

New solutions and opportunities for customers 

In 2019, the Bank made significant investments of more than EUR 4 million aimed at consolidating and improving the 

approach defined in its strategy regarding the development and provision of remote services to customers. The European 

Directive PSD2 required banks to create such technological environment, by September 2019, in which other service 
providers would have an opportunity to connect to the customer’s accounts, subject to the consent of the customer. At the 

end of 2019, the Bank provided its customers with the opportunity to connect to their accounts with two other banks. The 

Open Banking concept offers an ample range of opportunities for cross-industry cooperation for handier payments.  

As part of the PSD2 Directive, the Bank provided a well-considered process to enable all code card users to use an 
alternative payment authorization means – either a code calculator or Smart ID solution - as of 9 September, when the use 

of code cards was discontinued. By the end of 2019, Smart ID had been downloaded by more than 273,000 customers. 

By the end of the year, it was the main transaction authorisation solution for the Bank’s customers. 

In partnership with the technology company Ericsson, the Bank has developed a video consulting solution for private 
individuals. Currently, private individuals use video consulting to sign and modify their home loan agreements. In 2019, 

nearly 2,500 individuals used this opportunity to communicate with the Bank to meet their daily financial needs.  

In order to take a full advantage of the added value of remote consulting, the Bank developed a functionality that enables 

signing and safe storage of contracts in the online bank. During the reporting year, more than 174,000 various contracts 
were signed digitally. 

During 2019, the Bank made significant improvements to its mobile application, which resulted in a significant growth in 

the number of users. The Bank has added functionalities to make savings and to better manage cards in the mobile 

application. In 2019, the number of mobile application users grew by 15% compared to 2018, reaching 154,000 users of 
the mobile application. During the reporting year, the functionality of viewing business cards in a mobile application was 

introduced. 

Sending payment cards by post represents a significant improvement of customer service, eliminating the need for 

customers to visit the Bank to collect the renewed payment card. At the end of the reporting year, the Bank had mailed 
95% of the renewed cards to customers to the address specified by the customer; 61% of the new cards were received 

by customers at the address specified by them; at the beginning of the year, the option of receiving new cards at the 

specified address was chosen only by 33% of customers. 
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Statement of the Management of the Bank (continued) 

In the second half of the year, the Bank launched a chatbot tool for customers to help them handle often encountered 

cases related to everyday use of banking services and cards. Overall, in 2019, customers had close to 2,300 chat sessions.  

In December 2019, the Bank provided an opportunity to its customers using phones with Android operating system to use 

the function “Mobile Wallet”, which enables the integration of payment card data into the mobile environment and making 
payments by phone. As a result, in less than a month, more than 10,000 customers used this payment option; close to 

60,000 payments were made, showing a 20% increase in usage within one week. 

At the end of the reporting year, over 250,000 customers were actively using Internet Bank, whereof 90% were the 

Bank’s retail customers and 10% - corporate customers. 

All of the mentioned solutions enable customers to significantly simplify their daily lives, reducing their dependence on the 

physical location and working hours of the Bank, and introducing greater flexibility into their customers’ daily lives. 

Customer behaviour using digital solutions suggests that the improvements made are significant as the use of services in 

the digital environment increased from 53% in December 2018 to 67% in December 2019. 

As part of its strategy of providing excellent service and remote access to its banking services, the Bank continues to 

improve its service at the branches to provide advice to customers in the fields where remote consulting is not possible 

yet. The Bank has a total of 25 customer service points across Latvia, including branches with cash transaction facilities 

and branches and financial advice centres that do not provide cash transactions. The Bank’s customer service points are 
spread evenly across Latvia to ensure the availability of consultations. Eight service points are located in the eastern part 

of Latvia, eight points - in the western part of Latvia, and nine branches are located in Riga. Overall, more than half a million 

existing and new customers visited the branches in 2019, an increase of 9% compared to 2018, which occurred largely 

due to the code card replacement initiative.  

The third largest customer service point of contact after the digital solutions and branches is the Bank’s Customer Centre, 

which receives customer calls and questions remotely. During the reporting year, the number of customers served by 

phone calls as well as by way of a written communication was 8% higher than in the previous year.  

The Bank’s ATM network has also been deployed for maximum availability in different parts of Latvia. By the end of 2019, 
87 ATMs were available in Riga, 52 ATMs were available in the western part of Latvia and 71 ATMs were available in the 

eastern part of Latvia. On average, 40,000 customers use the opportunity of withdrawing or depositing money from/into 

their accounts on a daily basis. 

The performance of SIA “SEB līzings”  

During 2019, the company’s lease portfolio in Latvia increased by 5% to EUR 304.8 million, whereas the newly issued 

lease financing in the 12 months of 2019 amounted to EUR 130 million, resulting in an increase of 3% compared with 

2018. The most significant growth occurred in the car lease segment; new contracts worth EUR 73 million were concluded 

during the year, from which 88% were new car financing contracts. In the new car financing segment, SEB līzings has 
increased its market share to 24%. The largest activity was observed in the retail segment. The second most significant 

increase was achieved in the financing of industrial machinery. On the other hand, there has been less activity in the area 

of bus financing due to the wait-and-see situation on the part of customers concerning the results of the tender for regional 

intercity passenger carriage transport. Similarly, a lot of work has been done at the automation and robotisation of internal 
processes - in order to provide proper customer service and for the customers to get the financing offers faster.  

The performance of IP AS “SEB Investment Management”  

During 2019, the assets under management by the company increased by EUR 290 million (by 20.9%). At the end of the 

year, total assets under management were over EUR 1.681 billion. In 2019, an excellent investing performance was 
achieved. It should be noted that the return on the 2nd pillar pension plan, “SEB indeksu plans” and “SEB dinamiskais plans”, 

was the highest among all 2nd pillar pension plans (+ 25.62% and + 22.79%, respectively). The total net profit of all 

customers of the company exceeded EUR 140 million, which is a new record. 

The company has also had great financial performance. Its operating profit was EUR 2.16 million, owing to the rapid 
growth of assets under management, which increased revenues, as well as to good discipline on the cost side. 

While the investment environment in 2020 is full of challenges, we are moderately optimistic about it. Experience shows 

that periods of exceptionally high returns on investment, such as 2019, are followed by years with more modest 

performance. There are signs that the global economy is growing at a slightly slower pace. In addition, geopolitical risks 
escalate from time to time, which may also affect financial markets. We, however, expect moderately positive returns 

from higher-risk investments (equities and risk-related financial instruments). Low interest rates aggravate the situation 

for investors choosing a more conservative strategy. 
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Statement of the Management of the Bank (continued) 

The performance of “SEB atklātais pensiju fonds”  

As a leader in long-term private pension savings segment, in 2019, the company continued its successful customer 

advisory and pension fund management activities. In 2019, the number of employers providing their employees with a 

contemporary remuneration system, including long-term savings has increased.  

Employers’ contributions to the pension accounts of their employees have increased by 10% compared to 2018. The year 

2019 was the best year for the company since its foundation in 2000, with total contributions of EUR 25 million made 

during the year. As a result, the total capital of customers increased by 19% in 2019, reaching a historic high of EUR 185.5 

million. Asset managers have made EUR 18.5 million for the company’s customers, which is the best result ever achieved. 
The return on investment for the SEB-Balanced pension plan was 10.65% per annum, whereas for SEB-Aktīvais it was 

15.45% per annum.  

A total of 91,560 customers and 829 companies make voluntary contributions into corporate pension plans, which 

suggests of mutual trust and long-term cooperation entailing a well-considered solution to enter into contracts and making 
payments remotely.  

Valuable content, information and events held for our customers  

For entrepreneurs  

During the reporting year, the Bank continued to implement its business sustainability strategy, with support to 

entrepreneurship and innovation being one of its priorities. The Bank has held seminars and conferences for more than 
50 customers to broaden their perspectives and networking possibilities. The CFO Forum, i.e., the Latvian CFO Forum, 

brought together the representatives of 100 companies. The Bank ensured the broadcasting of one of the largest Business 

Leaders’ Forums at the Bank’s Innovation Centre, which was used by more than 100 customers.  

The Bank is the author of and implements two significant business improvement and development programmes, i.e., the 
Growth Programme and the Grant Programme, i.e.,(Ie)dvesma. With the help of the Growth Programme, 30 companies 

have had the opportunity to master a wide range of growth tools for the company over a 6-month period, while as part of 

the (Ie)dvesma Programme, executed by the Bank together with 7 municipalities, EUR 70,000 were granted to start-ups.  

At the end of the year, the Bank initiated a study on the productivity of Latvian companies and presented its results to 
companies and policy makers.  

For individuals 

During the summer of the reporting year, the Bank welcomed 20 young adults to a two-month internship programme that 

allowed them to join the Bank’s routine work. Similarly, the summer is a time when the Bank is involved in supporting the 
ZZ Championship and defining various tasks for young people, thus creating added value to over 15,000 young people.   

During the reporting year, the Bank provided an opportunity to view the conference “She-Leader” to a wide audience (over 

74,000 online views). The Bank takes and active part in the National Shadow Day, inviting 30 young people willing to take 

a peek at the routine life at the Bank.  

In 2019, we pursued our goal dedicated for the centenary of Latvia, i.e., to deliver 100 lectures in financial literacy. The 

Bank’s staff educated 3,039 school students on various financial literacy matters, delivering a total of 102 lectures. The 

Bank also continued to educate customers in the field of investing by holding seminars on various topics related to 

investing money and investment related topics. The Bank was also an active participant in the Digital Skills Week. 
Responding to the invitation, the Bank welcomed 40 teachers to discuss the development of digitalisation and innovation 

in the financial sector and the business environment as a whole.  

As a supporter of the Art Festival in Cesis, the Bank presented an opportunity for its customers to enjoy an outstanding 

arts and culture programme in Cesis last summer.  

Every year, the Bank also provides study grants of approximately EUR 50,000, managing and awarding of which is helped 

by the Vītols Foundation. The Bank is also a long-time supporter of SOS Children’s Villages.  

Acknowledgments 

During the reporting year, the international business and financial magazine Global Finance named the Bank the best 

digital bank in Latvia, as well as the best provider of securities custody services in Latvia. For the third consecutive 
year, the Bank has been ranked in the Platinum category of the Sustainability Index, with the highest rating in the history 

of self-assessment, i.e., 96.4%. Concurrently with the award by the Sustainability Index, the Bank was repeatedly 

assigned the status of a family-friendly bank. For the fifth time, the Bank has been named the best bank in Latvia by the 

international finance magazine Global Finance.  
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Statement of the Management of the Bank (continued) 

The team and investments in staff 

The team, which takes care of the customers on a daily basis and manages various projects, is at the heart of the Bank’s 

operations. Continuous learning, strengthening leadership skills and trying out new work environment formats is what 

characterised the Bank as an employer in 2019.  

At the end of the reporting year, the Bank had 830 employees. Overall, the Bank provided 40 different types of training 
to improve the skills and knowledge of its employees. As part of the Talent Management framework, the Bank has been 

developing the Talent Programme; over 80 employees have been nominated to it, undergoing a special training and 

improvement.   

The Bank also provides a special training programme for executives in the fields of strategic thinking, team management 
and leadership.  

During the reporting year, the Bank had the opportunity to provide a new training platform, Campus Online, which is a 

common training programme for the Bank’s parent company, providing ample opportunities for online training on various 

topics.   

During the reporting year, the Bank approved the policy of flexible working hours as well as signed the Diversity Charter. 

The traditional Health Week, paying tribute to our long-term employees and the Thank You Initiative are events 

consolidating the performance of the Bank’s team.  

The results of the Employer Appraisal Survey for 2019 demonstrated a very high engagement rate, which was better than 
in 2018. One of the highest scores was the Bank’s attitude towards sustainability in business, where the Bank’s employees 

appreciate the Bank’s contribution to creating a transparent and sustainable business environment.  

During the reporting year, Jeļena Cīrule joined the Bank’s Management Board as CFO, while the former member of the 

Management Board responsible for credit and risk management Kārlis Danēvičs took over the responsibility for the AML 
matters. Erki Pugal is in charge of the lending and risk management. In order to strengthen the implementation of the 

decisions made and initiatives taken, the Bank has an extended management team to include the directors of the Business 

Development Department, the Restructuring Department, the Large Enterprise Service Department and the 

Communication Department. 

Future prospects 

The Bank continues to create and develop its business based on the objective defined in its Business Sustainability 

Strategy, i.e., to ensure sustainable growth for the economies and communities of the Baltic countries, including Latvia. 

The Bank will carry on its work on improving the business environment to make it more attractive to investors.  

The Bank will focus not only on providing sustainable financing under the EU framework, but also on the digital and 
financial literacy of the community and businesses. We will continue to consolidate our activities in the field of AML as well 

as on improving business efficiency. 

Recent pandemic outbreak of the coronavirus Covid-19 and government’s response measures in attempt to limit its 

spread, have affected all areas of the economy and society. The Group has taken immediate actions to ensure the safety 
of the employees and – being a provider of critical functions and a systemic bank for the Latvian economy – multiple 

measures to ensure continuity of providing our services. The Group is continuously monitoring the situation, ensuring 

timely and responsible actions in response to changing circumstances.
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The Supervisory Council and the Board of Directors of the Bank  

 

           Date of appointment 

The Supervisory Council 
 

Riho Unt Chairman of the Council Re-elected – 

08/06/2017 

Stefan Stignäs Deputy Chairman of the Council Re-elected – 

08/06/2017 

Erkka Näsäkkälä Member of the Council Elected – 

08/06/2017 

Mats Emil Torstendahl Member of the Council Elected – 

08/06/2017 

Aušra Matusevičiene Member of the Council Elected – 

08/06/2017 

Juha Lassi Johannes Kotajoki                  Member of the Council                                                                  Elected – 

02/07/2018 

The Board of Directors  

 

Ieva Tetere Chairperson of the Board / President Elected – 

03/07/2015 

Kārlis Danēvičs Member of the Board  Re-elected – 

14/01/2019 

Ints Krasts Member of the Board  Re-elected – 

01/08/2019 

Arnis Škapars Member of the Board   Elected – 

08/10/2015 

Jeļena Cīrule Member of the Board / Finance Director Elected – 

25/04/2019 

Erki Pugal Member of the Board Elected – 

05/08/2019 

 

During 2019 there have not been any changes in the composition of the members of the Supervisory Council of AS “SEB 

banka”. 
 

During 2019 there have been the following changes in the members of the Board of Directors of AS “SEB banka”: 

 

On 14 January 2019 Kārlis Danēvičs was re-elected as the Member of the Board. 

On 25 April 2019 Jeļena Cīrule was elected as the Member of the Board/ Finance Director. 

On 01 August 2019 Arnis Škapars was re-elected as the Member of the Board. 

On 05 August 2019 Erki Pugal was elected as the Member of the Board. 
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Statement of Responsibility of the Management of the Bank 

The Board (the Management) of the Bank is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of 

the Bank and its subsidiaries. 

The consolidated financial statements on pages 11 to 83 are prepared in accordance with the source documents and 

present fairly the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019 and the results of its operations and cash flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2019. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

adopted in the European Union on a going concern basis. Appropriate accounting policies have been applied on a consistent 

basis. Prudent and reasonable judgments and estimates have been made by the Management in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

The Management of AS “SEB banka” is responsible for the maintenance of proper accounting records, the safeguarding of 

the Group’s assets and the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities in the Group. They are also 

responsible for operating the Bank in compliance with the Law on Credit Institutions, regulations of the Bank of Latvia, the 
Financial and Capital Market Commission and other legislation of the Republic of Latvia applicable for credit institutions. 

The consolidated financial statements on pages 11 to 83 have been approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 

Directors of the Bank and signed on their behalf by: 

 
 

 

 

 
 

Ieva Tetere  Jeļena Cīrule 

Chairperson of the Board / President  Member of the Board/ Finance Director 

 

 

Riga, 

24 March 2020 
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Consolidated Income Statement 

(millions of EUR) 
 Notes  2019   2018  

        

        

Interest income 4  72.8   67.5  

out of this income at effective interest rate   72.8   67.5  

Interest expense 4  -8.9   -7.9  

Net interest income 4  63.9   59.6  

        

Fee and commission income 5  55.1   53.7  

Fee and commission expense 5  -17.4   -17.5  

Net fee and commission income 5  37.7   36.2  

        

Net financial income 6  8.7   7.3  

        

Dividends    -   0.1  

Other operating income 7  2.6   3.3  

Net other income   2.6   3.4  

        

Personnel expenses 8  -26.3   -25.6  

Depreciation, amortization and impairment of  

tangible and intangible, and right of use assets 17- 19 

 

-7.3   -4.0  

Other expenses 9  -23.2   -23.6  

Total operating expenses   -56.8   -53.2  

        

Net expected credit losses 10  -5.3   -3.8  

        

Profit before income tax   50.8   49.5  

        

Income tax expenses 11  -1.2   -0.7  

        

Net profit for the year   49.6   48.8   

        

 

The consolidated financial statements on pages 11 to 83 have been approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 

Directors of the Bank and signed on their behalf by: 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Ieva Tetere  Jeļena Cīrule 

Chairperson of the Board / President  Member of the Board/ Finance Director 

 

 

Riga, 
24 March 2020 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 15 to 83 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

  



AS „SEB banka” Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2019 

 
 

 12 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  

(millions of EUR) 

 Notes  31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

Assets      

Cash and balances with central bank 12  602.3   350.1 

Receivables from credit institutions 13,14  39.6   58.5 
Loans to the public 14  3,028.1   2,957.9 

Debt securities 15  150.6   254.9 

Derivatives 16  44.7   34.0 

Equity instruments 15  8.5   5.9 
Intangible assets 17  8.7   9.2 

Property, plant and equipment 18  8.6   8.8 

Right of use assets 19  10.2  - 

Investment property   0.1  - 
Current income tax assets   3.1   3.1 

Other financial assets 21  42.3   29.7 

Other non-financial assets 21  6.4   6.5 

Total assets   3,953.2   3,718.6 

      

Liabilities      

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 22  327.6   546.7 

Deposits and borrowings from the public 23  3,089.2   2,694.5 
Derivatives 16  45.9   34.1 

Deferred income tax liability   2.0   0.7 

Provisions 20  2.9   3.0  

Other financial liabilities 21  84.3   43.5 
Other non-financial liabilities 21  10.4   9.0 

Total liabilities   3,562.3   3,331.5 

      
Equity      

Capital and reserves attributable to the equity holders     

Share capital 24  145.3   145.3 

Share premium   5.1   5.1 
Other reserves 24  0.5   0.6 

Retained earnings   240.0   236.1 

Total equity   390.9   387.1 

      

Total liabilities and equity   3,953.2   3,718.6 

      

 

The consolidated financial statements on pages 11 to 83 have been approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 

Directors of the Bank and signed on their behalf by: 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Ieva Tetere  Jeļena Cīrule 

Chairperson of the Board / President  Member of the Board/ Finance Director 

 

Riga, 

24 March 2020 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 15 to 83 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in the Equity  

(millions of EUR) 
 

Paid-in 
share 

capital 

Share 

premium 

Other 

reserves 

Revaluation 

reserve on 

investment 

securities 
available-

for-sale  

Retained 

earnings TOTAL 

       

Balance at 31 December 2017 145.3 5.1 0.6 0.6 252.3 403.9 

Effect of applying IFRS 9* - - - -0.6 5.6 5.0 

Restated balance at 1 January 2018 145.3 5.1 0.6 - 257.9 408.9 

Profit for the year - - - - 48.8 48.8 

Total comprehensive income for the 

year - - - - 48.8 48.8 

Dividend (Note 24) - - - - -70.9 -70.9 

Share-based compensation - - 0.3 - - 0.3 

Realisation of share-based 

compensation - - -0.3 - 0.3 - 

Balance at 31 December 2018 145.3 5.1 0.6 - 236.1 387.1 

Effect of applying IFRS 16** - - - - -0.1 -0.1 

Restated balance at 1 January 2018 145.3    5.1    0.6    - 236.0    387.0    

Profit for the year - - - - 49.6    49.6    

Total comprehensive income for the 

year - - - - 49.6 49.6 

Dividend (Note 24) - - - - -45.9    -45.9    

Share-based compensation - - 0.2    - - 0.2    

Realisation of share-based 

compensation - - -0.3    - 0.3    - 

Balance at 31 December 2019 145.3    5.1    0.5    - 240.0    390.9    

 

*IFRS 9 Financial instruments is applied from 1 January 2018 

**IFRS 16 Lease agreements is applied from 1 January 2019 
 

 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 15 to 83 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 



AS „SEB banka” Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2019 

 
 

 14 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  

(millions of EUR) 
 Notes 2019  2018 

     

Cash flows from operating activities     

Profit before income tax   50.8  49.5 
Amortisation and depreciation of intangible assets and property 

and equipment  3.9  3.8 

Increase in allowances for loan impairment  5.3  3.8 

Interest income on loans  -71.1  -66.2 
Interest expense on customer and bank deposits  1.6  1.3 

(Profit) / loss from revaluation of foreign currency  1.5  1.9 

Loss from disposal of tangible property and equipment   0.1  0.1 

Lease expenses  3.9  - 
Increase in share based compensations  0.2  0.3 

(Increase) / decrease in other assets   -11.0  -6.1 

Increase/ (decrease) in other liabilities  31.9  4.2 

Increase / (decrease)  in cash and cash equivalents from 
operating activities  before changes in assets and liabilities  17.1  -7.4 

     

(Increase) / decrease  in loans to credit institutions and 

mandatory reserve in central bank  -3.3  1.9 
(Increase) / decrease of securities designated at fair value 

through profit or loss  104.3  32.5 

(Increase) / decrease in balances due from banks  -0.8  7.0 

Increase in loans and advances to customers  -76.1  -318.8 
Increase / (decrease) in balances due to banks  -219.1  -290.0 

Increase in deposits due to customers  394.6  320.2 

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from 

operating activities before income taxes  216.7  -254.6 

     
Interest received from loans issued  71.6  67.0 

Interest paid on customer and bank deposits  -1.5  -1.3 

Income tax paid  -  -3.4 

Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities  286.8  -192.3 

     
Cash flows from investing activities     

Purchase of property and equipment   -3.2  -3.8 

Sale of property and equipment   -  0.1 

Increase in investment securities  -2.7  -10.8 

Net cash (used in) / generated from investing activities  -5.9  -14.5 

     

Cash flows from financing activities     

Lease liabilities paid to supplier  -4.3  - 

Dividends paid out  -45.9  -70.9 

Net cash used in financing activities  -50.2  -70.9 

     

Net cash inflow / (outflow) for the year  230.7  -277.7 
     

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 27 379.6  659.2 

     

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents  -1.5  -1.9 
     

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 27 608.8  379.6 

     
 

The accompanying notes on pages 15 to 83 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



AS „SEB banka” Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2019 

 
 

 15 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Figures in brackets represent the data as at 31 December 2019 unless stated otherwise)  

Corporate information  

AS “SEB banka” (the Bank) is a joint-stock company incorporated in the Republic of Latvia, Meistaru street 1, Valdlauči, 

Ķekava parish, Ķekava region, LV-1076. The Bank is registered in Commercial Register with common registration number 
LV 40003151743.The Bank and its subsidiaries (the Group) are engaged in banking and financial services business. As 

of 31 December 2019 and 2018 the Bank holds investments in the following subsidiaries:  

Company name Registry code Address Activity 

Holding 

(%) 

Investment 

value 

31/12/2019 

EUR mil. 

      

SIA “SEB līzings” 50003334041 

SEB finanšu centrs, Meistaru 

street 1, Valdlauči, Ķekavas 

parish, Ķekavas region, LV-1076 

Leasing and 

factoring 

activities 

 
 

 

100 

 
 

 

3.8 

      

IP AS “SEB Investment 

Management” 40003525797 

Antonijas street 9-12, Riga, LV-

1010 

Investment and 
pension fund 

management 

 

 
 

100 

 

 
 

0.6 

      

AS “SEB atklātais pensiju 

fonds” 40003485047 
Antonijas street 9-12, Riga, LV-
1010 Pension fund 

 

100 

 

0.6 

 
The sole shareholder of the Bank is Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), who is also the ultimate controlling party, 

registered in Sweden. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 have been approved by the Management 
Board on 24 March 2020 and are subject to approval by the ultimate shareholder. 

 

1. Significant accounting policies 

1.1. Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements of AS “SEB banka” Group (the Group) are prepared in accordance with the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. 

1.2. Basis of preparation 

These consolidated financial statements are prepared on historical cost basis, except for the certain financial assets and 
liabilities (including derivative instruments) measured at fair value. The accounting policies used in the preparation of the 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 are consistent with those used in the annual 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 apart from the accounting policy changes 

resulting from the adaption of IFRS 16 that is effective from 1 January 2019 . 

The change was made in presentation of financial statements to be in compliance with Groups applied accounting policies 

as well as to give more fair presentation in financial statements. “Repossessed collaterals“, which were presented in 

Consolidated and Bank’s standalone statement of financial position under “Other assets”, are moved to row “Investment 

property” (2019: 0.1 mEUR, 2018: 0.5 mEUR). 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of euro unless indicated otherwise. 

1.3. Consolidation 

The subsidiaries being consolidated are listed under section “Corporate Information”. Investments in subsidiaries and 

associates in the Bank’s standalone financial statements (see Note 34) are accounted for using the cost method less 
impairment and are initially recognized at cost. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.3. Consolidation (continued) 

1.3.1. Subsidiaries 

These consolidated financial statements combine the financial statements of the parent company and its subsidiaries. 

Subsidiaries are companies, over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has 

rights to, variable returns from its involvement and has the ability to use its power to affect the amount of the returns. 

Control is deemed to exist when the parent company (i) has power to direct relevant activities of the investee that 

significantly affect their returns, (ii) has exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investees, 
and (iii) has the ability to use its power over the investees to affect the amount of investor’s returns. 

The financial statements of the parent company and the consolidated subsidiaries refer to the same period and have been 

drawn up according to the accounting policies applicable to the Group. A subsidiary is included in the consolidated financial 

statements from the time of acquisition, being the date when the parent company gains control over the subsidiary. The 
subsidiary is included in the consolidated financial statements until the date when control over the company ceases to 

exist. 

The consolidated accounts are prepared in accordance with the acquisition method. The acquisition value is measured as 

the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed. 

The identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 

measured initially at their fair values on acquisition date, irrespective of any minority interest. Intra-group transactions, 

balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 

1.4. Foreign currency translation 

The functional and presentation currency of the parent company and subsidiaries is Euro. Foreign currency transactions 

are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates of the European Central Bank prevailing at the dates 

of the transactions. On subsequent balance sheet dates monetary items in foreign currency are translated using the closing 

rate. Non-monetary items, which are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency, are translated using the 
exchange rate on the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items, which are measured at fair value in a foreign currency, 

are translated applying the exchange rate of the European Central Bank on the date on which the fair value is determined. 

Gains and losses arising as a result of exchange rate differences on settlement or translation of monetary items are 

recognised in profit or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary items, classified as financial assets or financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are included in the change in fair value of those items.  

1.5. Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of presentation in the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are cash on hand, demand deposits 

with the Central Banks and demand deposits with other credit institutions, which are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

1.6. Financial assets 

Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument and are measured at fair value on initial recognition. Transaction costs are included in the fair value on initial 
recognition except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are expensed in profit 

or loss. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired, the Group has transferred 

substantially all risks and rewards and upon substantial modification. Financial assets at fair value are recognised on the 

balance sheet on trade date, with exception of loans, which are recognized on settlement date. Financial assets measured 
at amortised cost are recognised on settlement date. 

The Group classifies and subsequently measures its financial assets in the following categories: 

- financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL’);  

- amortised cost (‘AC’).  

The classification will depend on if the financial asset is a debt instrument, an equity instrument or a derivative. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.6.  Financial assets (continued) 

1.6.1. Debt Instruments (loans and debt securities) 

The classification is based on a combination of assessing the business model for managing the financial assets and whether 
the contractual cash flow characteristics consist of solely payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’). The business model 

assessment is performed for homogenous portfolios identified based on how the business is managed in the divisions of 

the Group. The assessment is based on reasonable scenarios taking into consideration how the portfolio is evaluated and 

reported to management; the risks affecting the performance of the portfolio and how these risks are managed; how 
managers are compensated; and the frequency, value and timing of sales including the reasons for the sales. In 

determining if the cash flows consist solely of principal and interest, the principal is defined as the fair value of the debt 

instrument at initial recognition, which can change over the life if there are repayments or capitalisation of interest. 

Interest cash flows are consistent with components per a basic lending arrangement including consideration for time value 
of money, credit risk, liquidity risk as well as administrative costs and profit margin. If there are contractual features 

introducing an exposure to other risks or volatility, it is not considered to consist of solely payments of principal and 

interest. Debt instruments are presented in the statement of financial position items: Receivables from credit institutions, 

Loans to the public and Debt securities, and include instruments in the following measurement categories. 

Fair value through profit or loss: Debt instruments are classified in this category if not meeting the criteria for amortised 

cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. This is the case if the business model is held for trading; where 

financial assets are considered held for trading if they are held with the intention to be sold in the short-term and for the 

purpose of generating profits. Debt instruments are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss if the assets 
are managed and evaluated on a fair value basis or the assets are held with an intention to sell alternatively if the cash 

flows do not consist of solely payments of principal and interest. Debt instruments that would otherwise be classified as 

fair value through other comprehensive income or amortised cost are also included in this category if, upon initial 

recognition, designated at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option). The fair value option can be applied only in 
situations where such designation reduces measurement inconsistencies. 

Amortised cost: Debt instruments are classified in this category if both of the following criteria are met: 

(a) the business model objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and  

(b) the contractual cash flow characteristics consist of solely payments of principal and interest.  

The gross carrying amount of these assets is measured using the effective interest method and adjusted for expected 

credit losses. 

Financial instruments by IFRS 9 measurement categories are presented in the Note 32. 

1.6.2. Equity instruments 

Equity instruments are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. An irrevocable election can be made 

on initial recognition to classify equity instruments (not held for trading) at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

This election has not been applied in the group. 

1.6.3. Derivatives 

Derivatives are classified as fair value through profit or loss (held for trading) unless designated as hedging instruments. 

1.6.4. Modification 

The Group may renegotiate loans and modify contractual terms. If the new terms are substantially different from the 

original terms, the Group derecognizes the original financial asset and recognises a new asset. The Group also assesses 
whether the new financial asset is credit-impaired at initial recognition. If the terms are not substantially different, the 

modification does not result in derecognition and the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the new cash 

flows using the original effective interest rate of the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss. 

1.6.5. Write-off 

The Group writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it is unlikely to collect debt from the borrower and it cannot 

be recovered from a sale of collateral. Write-offs constitute derecognition event and shall include amounts caused both 

by reductions of the carrying amount of financial assets recognised directly in profit or loss as well as reductions in the 

amounts of the allowance accounts for credit losses taken against the carrying amount of financial assets. 

The Group may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The outstanding contractual 

amounts of such assets written off during the year ended 31 December 2019 8.9 million euros (31 December 2018 –  

16.0 million euros).The Group still seeks to recover amounts it is legally owed in full, but which have been partially written 

off due to no reasonable expectation on full recovery.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.7. Financial guarantees 

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss 

it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. 
Financial guarantee liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value (which most often equals the premium received) 

and subsequently at the higher of the amount determined in accordance with the expected credit loss model under IFRS 

9 Financial Instruments and the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of income 

recognised. The contractual amounts according to financial guarantees are not recognised in the statement of financial 
position but disclosed as obligations. 

1.8. Expected credit loss 

1.8.1. Measurement 

The impairment requirements are based on an expected credit loss (ECL) model. The guiding principle of the ECL model is 
to reflect the general pattern of deterioration or improvement in the credit quality of financial instruments. All financial 

assets measured at amortised cost, as well as lease receivables, financial guarantees contracts and certain loan 

commitments are in scope for expected credit loss. 

The ECLs on financial assets measured at amortised cost and lease receivables are presented as allowances, i.e., as an 
integral part of the measurement of those assets in the balance sheet. The allowance reduces the gross carrying amount. 

The ECLs on loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts are presented as provisions, i.e., as a liability, in the 

balance sheet. Adjustment to the loss allowance and provision due to changes in ECLs is recognised in the income 

statement as Net expected credit losses. 

The assessment of credit risk, and the estimation of ECL, shall be unbiased and probability-weighted, and shall incorporate 

all available information which is relevant to the assessment, including information about past events, current conditions 

and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions at the reporting date. The  Group uses 

both models and expert credit judgement (ECJ) for calculating ECLs. 

The ECL model has a three-stage approach based on changes in the credit risk. A 12-month ECL (Stage 1) applies to all 

items, unless there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. For items where there is a significant 

increase in credit risk (Stage 2) or in default (Stage 3), lifetime ECL applies. 

1.8.2. Significant increase in credit risk 

At the end of each reporting period the Group perform an assessment of whether credit risk has increased significantly 

since initial recognition. The assessment of whether there has been a significant change in credit risk is based on 

quantitative and qualitative indicators. Both historic and forward-looking information shall be used in the assessment. 

For arrangements with an initial origination date as of 1 January 2018 or later, the primary indicator is changes in lifetime 
probability of default (PD) by comparing the scenario-weighted annualized lifetime PD at the reporting date with the 

scenario-weighted annualized lifetime PD at initial recognition. For arrangements with an initial origination date prior to 1 

January 2018 changes in Group’s and Bank’s internal risk classifications since initial origination are used as the primary 

indicator. 

Regardless of the quantitative indicator, a significant increase in credit risk is triggered if the following back-stop indicators 

occur: 

 payments are past due >30 days but <90 days; or 

 financial assets that have been classified as watch-listed; or  

 financial assets are forborne (where due to the customer’s financial difficulties the contractual terms of the 

loans have been revised and concessions given). 

Back-stop indicators normally overlap with the quantitative indicator of significant increase in credit risk. 

In case there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, an allowance for lifetime ECL shall be 

recognised and the financial instrument is transferred to Stage 2. The approach is symmetrical, meaning that in 
subsequent reporting periods, if the credit quality of the financial instrument improves such that there is no longer a 

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the financial assets move back to Stage 1. 

If credit quality of financial instrument deteriorates further, the financial instrument is transferred to Stage 3. Transfer to 

Stage 3 is triggered if the following indications occur: 
- Payments are past due more than 90 days; 

- Financial instrument is in default (PD = 100%). 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.8.  Expected credit loss (continued) 

1.8.3. Definition of default 

Financial instruments in default are in Stage 3. The Group apply a definition of default for accounting purposes that is 
consistent with how it is defined in the capital requirements regulation (Article 178 of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of 

the European Parliament and of the Council on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and 

amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012), which includes financial assets past due more than 90 days. All financial assets 

in Stage 3 are considered credit-impaired. 

1.8.4. Modelling 

The ECL is calculated as a function of the probability of default (PD), the exposure at default (EAD) and the loss given 

default (LGD), as well as the timing of the loss. The Group’s IFRS 9 methodology for ECL measurement is based on existing 

internal rating-based risk models (IRB) to the extent allowed under IFRS 9. As the objectives of these frameworks differ, 
the manner in which the expected credit losses are calculated also differs and appropriate adjustments are made to the 

IRB parameters to meet IFRS 9 requirements. Adjustments include the conversion of through-the-cycle and downturn 

parameters used in IRB risk models to point-in-time parameters used under IFRS 9 that considers forward-looking 

information. 

PD represents the likelihood that a loan will not be repaid and will go into default in either a 12-month or lifetime horizon. 

The expected PD for each individual instrument incorporates a consideration of past events, current market conditions 

and reasonable and supportable information about future economic conditions. The Group use IFRS 9 specific PD models. 

The models are calibrated based on a combination of assets class and product type. EAD represents an estimate of the 
outstanding amount of credit exposure at the time a default may occur. For off-balance sheet amounts, EAD includes an 

estimate of any further amounts to be drawn at the time of default. For IFRS 9, EAD models are adjusted for a 12-month 

or lifetime horizon. LGD is the amount that may not be recovered in the event of default. LGD takes into consideration the 

amount and quality of any collateral held as well as the probability of cure, whereby the borrower repays all his past due 
obligations on the defaulted loan and recommences contractual repayments. The Group use existing LGD models adjusted 

to meet IFRS 9 requirements. 

When measuring ECL, the Group use the maximum contractual period during which the Group is exposed to risk. All 

contractual terms are considered when determining the expected life, including prepayment options and extension and 
rollover options. For revolving facilities, such as credit cards, and retail mortgage facilities the expected life is modelled 

based on historical behavior. The residual behavioral expected life for such facilities is based on historically observed 

survival curve and it is affected by the time since origination of the arrangement. 

1.8.5. Forward-looking information 

The Group uses internally developed macroeconomic forecasts as the basis for the forward-looking information 

incorporated in the ECL measurement. In order to ensure an unbiased estimation of credit losses under IFRS 9, at least 

three scenarios are used. One of the scenarios is the base case scenario, representing the most likely outcome, which is 

also applied in the financial planning and budgeting process, while other case scenarios represent more positive or 
negative outcomes. 

The forward-looking scenarios are prepared by the Group Economic Research Department. The scenarios are approved 

by the Group Risk Committee. 

A scenario consists of a qualitative description of the macroeconomic development and a quantitative part, with forecasts 
of key macroeconomic variables for three subsequent years, as well as the likelihood of occurrence (scenario- weight). 

The scenarios are reviewed on a quarterly basis. In case of significant changes in the macroeconomic environment and 

outlook, the scenarios will be updated more frequently. The base scenario variables are benchmarked to various external 

sources of similar forward-looking scenarios, e.g. from OECD, IMF, EU Commission and National Statistics Offices. 

1.8.6. Expert Credit Judgement 

The Group use both models and expert credit judgement (ECJ) in order to determine ECLs. The degree of judgement that 

is required to estimate ECL depends on the model outcome, materiality and the availability of detailed information. The 

model provides guidance and transparency as to how economic events could affect the impairment of financial assets. 
ECJ may be applied to the modelled outcome to incorporate an estimated impact of factors not captured by the model. 

Such judgmental adjustment to the model-generated ECLs may be applied to significant exposures at a counterparty  level. 

The adjustments are decided by the relevant credit committee using the model ECLs as guidance. In addition there may be 

a need for adjustments at a portfolio level, which is decided by the Group Risk Committee. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.9. Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are measured at fair value on initial recognition. In case the financial liabilities are measured at fair 

value through profit or loss, transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or the issuance of the financial liability 
are recognised in profit or loss. For other financial liabilities direct transaction cost are recognised as a deduction from the 

fair value. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when extinguished, that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are classified as held for trading. Financial liabilities held for trading 

are derivatives not designated as hedging instruments.  

Other financial liabilities 

The category other financial liabilities primarily include the Group’s short-term and long-term borrowings. After initial 
recognition other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The balance 

sheet items Deposits from central banks and credit institutions, Deposits and borrowings from the public and Other 

financial liabilities are included in this category. 

1.10. Fair value measurement 

The objective of the fair value measurement is to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place 

between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. The best evidence of fair value 

is a quoted price for the instrument being measured in an actively traded market. Where the market for a financial 

instrument is not active, fair value is calculated using an established valuation technique. These valuation techniques 
involve a degree of estimation, the extent of which depends on the instrument’s complexity and the availability of market-

based data. When valuing financial liabilities at fair value own credit standing is reflected. Given the uncertainty and 

subjective nature of valuing financial instruments at fair value, it is possible that the outcomes in the next financial year 

could differ from the assumptions used. 

For some of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities, especially for certain derivatives, quoted prices are not available, 

and valuation models are used to estimate fair value. As part of the fair value measurement, valuation adjustments are 

made when valuing derivative financial instruments, to incorporate counterparty and own credit risk. The methodologies 

for estimating valuation adjustments are continuously revised as a result of changing market practices in response to 
regulatory and accounting policy changes, as well as general market developments. 

1.11. Offsetting financial transactions 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legal right to 

offset transactions and an intention to settle net or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

1.12. Repossessed collateral 

Repossessed collateral are assets taken over to protect a claim. The Group may give up rights of claim from a loan 

receivable and instead repossess the asset that served as collateral for the loan. Repossessed collateral consist of 

properties and other tangible assets. Repossessed collateral are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable value and 
reported within “Investment property”. 

1.13. Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognized at cost, consisting of the purchase price, non-refundable taxes and 

other direct costs related to taking the asset in to use. Subsequently property, plant and equipment is measured at cost 
and depreciated according to plan on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. The depreciation 

period for buildings is up to 50 years, for other property, plant and equipment - between 2 and 10 years. Subsequent costs 

are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 

future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the reporting period in which they are 

incurred. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in 

the income statement. 

Property, plant and equipment is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication of impairment. 
  



AS „SEB banka” Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2019 

 
 

 21 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.14. Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are identifiable, non-monetary assets without physical substance. For an intangible asset to be 

recognised an entity must be able to demonstrate control of the intangible asset, which implies that the entity has the 
ability to ensure that the future economic benefits flowing from the underlying resource will accrue to the company. 

Intangible assets, other than goodwill, are only recognised in the statement of financial position if it is probable that the 

future economic benefits attributable to the asset will accrue to the Group and if the acquisition cost of the asset can be 

measured reliably. 

Intangible assets are measured initially at acquisition cost, and thereafter at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 

any accumulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives, i.e. all intangible assets except goodwill, are amortised on a straight line basis 

over their useful lives (3 years) and tested for impairment annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Internally generated intangible assets, such as software 

development, are amortised over a period of 8 years. 

The recoverable amount of an intangible asset is determined if there is indication of a reduction in the value of the asset. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount of the asset. 

1.15. Impairment of non-financial assets 

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In such circumstances the recoverable value of the asset is 

assessed and compared to its carrying value. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 

to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 

are separately identifiable cash flows. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for 

possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

1.16. Leasing 

The Group has applied IFRS 16 Leases using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the comparative 

information has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 17 Leases and related interpretations. For more 

information about the changes and the transitional effects from adopting IFRS 16, see note 1.23.1. 

1.16.1. The Group and the Bank as lessor 

The receivables from the financial lease agreements are recognized in net present value of the minimum lease payments, 

from which the payments of principal received have been deducted, plus unguaranteed residual value at the end of 

contract. Lease payments collected are allocated between repayment of principal and financial income. Financial income 
is recognized over the rental period based on the pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the lessor’s net 

investment in the financial lease. Initial service fees collected at issuance are included into the calculation of effective 

interest rate and lessor’s net investment. Lessor’s direct expenses, related to the contract, are part of effective interest 

rate and are booked as decrease of leasing income over the period of leasing contract. Allowances for lease receivables 
are presented on the respective line of statement of financial position at negative value. 

The lease receivable from the client is recognized in the statement of financial position as of the moment of delivering the 

assets being the object of the agreement to the client. In case of transactions, in which the assets being the object of the 

agreement having a long delivery term have not yet been delivered to the client, the payments received from the lessees 
under these agreements are recognized in the statement of financial position as prepayments of buyers in line “Other 

financial assets”. The amounts paid by the leasing firm for the assets under lease agreements not yet delivered are 

recognized in the statement of financial position as prepayments to suppliers on line “Other non-financial assets”. 

Assets under operating leases when the Group are lessors are recognized as property and equipment. The assets under 
operating lease are recognized at historical cost net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation of assets under operating 

lease is calculated on the difference between historic cost and estimated residual value at the end of the useful life. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of fixed assets and the charge is included 

in “Depreciation, amortization and impairment of tangible and intangible, and right of use assets”.  

Income receivable under operating leases is credited to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term 

and is included in “Other operating income”. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.16. Leasing (continued) 

1.16.2. The Group and the Bank as lessee  

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available 
for use by the Group and the Bank. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost 

is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 

remaining balance of the liability for each period. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the 

lease, if that rate can be determined, or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over 
the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The lease payments include fixed payments 

less any lease incentives receivable and variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate. 

The Group and the Bank has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that 

have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases for low-value assets. The Group and the Bank recognizes the lease 
payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

1.16.3. Accounting policies applicable until 31 December 2018 and replaced by IFRS 16 

Operating lease payments are recognised in income statement as expense over the rental period on straight line basis. 

Rental expense is recognised in income statement as “Other expenses”. 

1.17. Provisions 

Provisions are recognised for present obligations arising as consequences of past events where it is more likely than not 

that a transfer of economic benefit will be necessary to settle the obligation, and it can be reliably estimated. 

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

Provisions are made for undrawn loan commitments and similar facilities if it is probable that the facility will be drawn by 

a debtor in financial difficulties. ECLs on loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts are presented as provisions. 

Provisions and changes in provisions are recognised in the income statement as Net credit losses. 

Provisions are evaluated at each balance sheet date and are adjusted as necessary. 

1.18. Operating income 

1.18.1. Interest income and interest expenses 

The effective interest method is applied to recognise interest income and interest expenses in profit or loss for financial 
assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and 

of allocating interest income and interest expenses. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future 

cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial 
instrument. When calculating future payments, all payments included in the terms and conditions of the contracts, such as 

advance payments, are taken into consideration. The calculation of the effective interest rate includes fees and points to 

be received and paid that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  However, expected credit losses are not taken 

into account. 

If a financial asset subsequently has become credit impaired the interest income is recognised applying the effective 

interest rate to the amortised cost, i.e. gross carrying amount adjusted for the loss allowance. In case a financial asset is 

credit-impaired at initial recognition, the expected credit losses are included in the estimated cash flows to calculate a 

credit adjusted effective interest rate which then is applied to recognise the interest income. 

1.18.2. Fee and commission income 

The recognition of revenue from contracts with customers is reported as fee and commission income. This does not apply 

for revenue from leasing contracts or financial instruments and other contractual obligations within the scope of IFRS 9 

Financial Instruments. 

Fees that are included in the calculation of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument measured at amortised cost, 

such as loan origination fees, are allocated over the expected tenor of the instrument applying the effective interest 

method and presented in Net interest income. 

Fee and commission income is recognised to depict the transfer of promised services to the customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which SEB expects to be entitled in exchange for the service. The major types of fees are 

described below. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.18.  Operating income (continued) 

1.18.2. Fee and commission income (continued) 

Fee and commission income for payment cards, current account services, payments is recognised as revenue at a point of 
time or over the period in which services are provided, depending on the service provided to the client. There is neither 

significant variable consideration included in the transaction price, which could be subject to reversal in the future, nor 

separate performance obligations, which should be distinct. 

Fee and commission income for asset custody and asset management to customers is recognised as revenue over the 
period in which the services are provided. Performance based fees are recognised when it is highly probable that a 

significant reversal of recognised revenue will not occur, which is most often when the performance criteria are fulfilled. 

Fee and commission income from loan syndications in which SEB acts as arranger are recognised as income when the 

syndication is completed and the Group has retained no part of the loan or retained a part of the loan at the same effective 
interest rate as other participants. Brokerage fees, commission and fees from negotiating a transaction for a third party, 

such as arrangement of acquisitions or purchase or sale of a business, are recognised on completion of the transaction. 

Expenses that are directly related to the generation of fee and commission income are recognised as fee and commission 

expense. 

1.18.3. Net financial income 

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit 

or loss are reported under the item Net financial income. 

1.18.4. Dividend income 

Dividends are recognised when the entity’s right to receive payment is established. 

1.19. Employee benefits 

1.19.1. Short-term benefits 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave that are 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related 

service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the 

amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as Other non-financial liabilities 

in the statement of financial position. 

1.19.2. Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the normal retirement date 

or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognizes 

termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminate the employment of current employees 
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an 

offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 

1.19.3. Defined contribution plans or insurance contracts 

The Group is paying into the defined contribution plans or life insurance contracts on behalf of its employees. A defined 
contribution plan is a pension plan where the Group pays a contribution to AS "SEB atklātais pensiju fonds" and has no 

further obligation once the contribution is paid. Pension costs for defined contribution pension plans and life insurance 

premiums are recognised as an expense during the period the employees carry out the service to which the payment 

relates. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.19.  Employee benefits (continued) 

1.19.4. Share-based payments 

The Group operates a number of share-based incentive programmes based on Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) 
shares, under which it awards SEB equity instruments to its employees. Only key persons can participate in those 

programmes. The programmes, referred to above, are the Share Deferral Program (SDP) and Share Matching Program 

(SMP).Equity-settled share-based incentive programmes entitle employees to receive SEB equity instruments. Cash-

settled share-based incentive programmes entitle employees to receive cash based on the price or value of equity 
instruments of SEB. Fair value of these rights is determined by using appropriate valuation models, taking into account the 

terms and conditions of the award and the Group’s estimate of the number of rights that will eventually vest, which is 

reassessed at each reporting date. Social security costs, if applicable,  are accounted for over the vesting period and the 

provision for social security costs is reassessed on each reporting date to ensure that the provision is based on the rights’ 
fair value at the reporting date. The recording of expenses will last until the end of the qualification period of the respective 

programs. 

The cost of equity-settled share-based incentive programmes is measured by reference to the fair value of equity 

instruments on the date they are granted and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period 
with a corresponding increase in equity. The vesting period is the period that the employees have to remain in service in 

SEB in order for their rights to vest. For cash-settled share-based incentive programmes, the services acquired and liability 

incurred are measured at the fair value of the liability and recognised as an expense over the vesting period, during which 

the employees render service. Until settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasured, with changes in fair value 
recognised in the income statement. 

1.20.  Taxes 

The Group’s tax for the period consists of current and deferred tax. Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and 

prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to or from tax authorities using the tax rates and tax laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.  

Based on Latvian Corporate income tax law, starting from year 2018, corporate income tax is calculated on the basis of 

distributed profit or in case of expenses treated as deemed profit distribution (20/80 of the net amount payable to 

shareholders). 

Current tax arising from distributed profit is recognized when the shareholder of the Bank makes a decision on profit 

distribution, while tax on deemed profit distribution is recognized in profit and loss statement in the period for which it is 

assessed. Deferred tax in consolidated financial statements arises from undistributed profits of subsidiaries, since it is 

expected that the earnings of subsidiaries will be distributed in the foreseeable future. To the extent that subsidiaries’ 
profit distribution is assumed, the deferred tax liability is recognized in consolidated financial statements by using 20% 

rate that is applicable to profit distributions. 

1.21. Fiduciary activities 

The Group provides asset management services and offers fund management services. The assets owned by third parties, 
but managed by the Group, and income arising thereon, are excluded from these financial statements, as they are not 

assets of the Group. Commissions received from fiduciary activities are shown in fee and commission income. 

1.22. Share capital and dividends 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in 
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over the par 

value of shares issued is recorded as share premium in equity. 

Dividends are recorded in equity in the period in which they are declared. Any dividends declared after the end of the 

reporting period and before the financial statements are authorised for issue, are disclosed in the subsequent events note. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.23. New and amended Standards and interpretations 

1.23.1. Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations 

1.23.1.1.  IFRS 16 Leases (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019) 

IFRS 16 Leases replaces IAS 17 Leases and related interpretations. The standard is effective as from 1 January 2019 and 

is endorsed by the EU. The new standard significantly changes how the Group and the Bank as a lessee accounts for leases 

by introducing a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting model requiring the recognition of lease assets (right-of-use 

assets) and corresponding lease liabilities. In the income statement, the straight-line operating lease expense is replaced 
by depreciation of the lease assets and an interest expense on the lease liability. The accounting requirements for lessors 

are in practice unchanged. 

Upon transition to IFRS 16, the Group and the Bank has decided to apply the modified retrospective approach. For the 

purpose of applying the modified retrospective approach to the leases, the Group and the Bank has elected to measure 
the right-of-use assets to an amount equal to the lease liability. In addition, the Group and the Bank decided to apply the 

practical expedients to use hindsight when assessing the lease term, not to recognise a right-of-use asset or lease liability 

to leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months of the date of initial application, not to reassess whether a 

contract is, or contains, a lease at the date of initial application and not to include assets of low value. 

The main impact on the Group’s and Bank’s financial statements is from the accounting of property leases. There is no 

significant impact on the income statement, although the presentation in the income statement changes as other expenses 

will be replaced by depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest expenses on the lease liability. There is no significant 

impact on large exposures and capital adequacy. 

The new standard also introduces new estimates and judgements that affect the measurement of lease liabilities. The 

Group and the Bank measure the lease liability at the commencement date and may be required to revise it, e.g. the 

assessment of whether an option is reasonably certain to be exercised. As this will increase financial statement volatility, 

this is revised and monitored by the group continuously. 

The tables show the transition effects of IFRS 16 on the Group’s balance sheet reconciling the closing balances under IAS 

17 as of 31 December 2018 with the opening balances under IFRS 16 as of 1 January 2019: 

(millions of EUR) 

Impact on assets, liabilities and equity 
Closing balance 31 

December 2018 
 IFRS 16 transition  

Opening balance 1 
January 2019 

Assets      

Right of use assets -  13.1  13.1 

Other non-financial assets 1) 6.5  0.4  6.9 

Net impact on total assets   13.5   

      

Liabilities      
Provisions 3.0  -0.2  2.8 

Other financial liabilities 2) 43.5  13.8  57.3 

Net impact on total liabilities   13.6   

      

Total equity 3) 387.1  -0.1  387.0 

Net impact on total liabilities and equity   13.5   

 

1) Increase on non-financial assets comes from finance lease receivables 
2) Increase on other financial liabilities comes from lease liabilities 
3) Decrease on total equity comes from retained earnings 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.23.  New and amended Standards and interpretations (continued) 

1.23.1. Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations (continued) 

1.23.1.1.  IFRS 16 Leases (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019) (continued) 
 

Bridge showing the transition from IAS 17 to IFRS 16 accounting for leases    

(millions of EUR)  

Future minimum payments for operational leases per 31 December 2018 14.2 

Discounting -0.1 

Present value for lease liabilities previously classified as operating leases applying IAS 17  14.1 

Short-term leases expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term -0.3 

Leases for which the underlying assets is of low-value expensed on a straight-line basis -0.1 

Other 0 

Lease liabilities as of 1 January 2019 applying IFRS16 13.7 

 

1.23.1.2. Other standards and interpretations effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 

IFRS 9: Prepayment features with negative compensation (Amendment). The Amendment allows financial assets with 
prepayment features that permit or require a party to a contract either to pay or receive reasonable compensation for the 

early termination of the contract (so that, from the perspective of the holder of the asset there may be ‘negative 

compensation’), to be measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. The Group and 

the Bank has assessed that there is no material effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 

IAS 28: Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments). The Amendments relate to whether the 

measurement, in particular impairment requirements, of long- term interests in associates and joint ventures that, in 

substance, form part of the ‘net investment’ in the associate or joint venture should be governed by IFRS 9, IAS 28 or a 

combination of both. The Amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, before it applies IAS 28, 
to such long-term interests for which the equity method is not applied. In applying IFRS 9, the entity does not take account 

of any adjustments to the carrying amount of long- term interests that arise from applying IAS 28. The Group and the Bank 

has assessed that there is no material effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 

IFRIC interpretation 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments. The Interpretation addresses the accounting for income 
taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the application of IAS 12. The Interpretation provides guidance 

on considering uncertain tax treatments separately or together, examination by tax authorities, the appropriate method 

to reflect uncertainty and accounting for changes in facts and circumstances. The Group and the Bank has assessed that 

there is no material effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 

The IASB has issued the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015 – 2017 Cycle, which is a collection of amendments to IFRSs. 

The Group and the Bank has assessed that there is no material effect on the financial statements of the Group and the 

Bank. 

- IFRS 3 Business Combinations and IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements. The amendments to IFRS 3 clarify that when an entity 
obtains control of a business that is a joint operation, it remeasures previously held interests in that business. The 

amendments to IFRS 11 clarify that when an entity obtains joint control of a business that is a joint operation, the 

entity does not remeasure previously held interests in that business. 

- IAS 12 Income Taxes. The amendments clarify that the income tax consequences of payments on financial 
instruments classified as equity should be recognized according to where the past transactions or events that 

generated distributable profits has been recognized. 

- IAS 23 Borrowing Costs. The amendments clarify paragraph 14 of the standard that, when a qualifying asset is ready 

for its intended use or sale, and some of the specific borrowing related to that qualifying asset remains outstanding 
at that point, that borrowing is to be included in the funds that an entity borrows generally. 

There are no other new or revised standards or interpretations have that are effective for the first time for the financial 

year beginning on or after 1 January 2019 that would be expected to have material impact to the Group and the Bank. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.23.  New and amended Standards and interpretations (continued) 

1.23.2. New Accounting Pronouncements 

Certain new or revised standards and interpretations have been issued that are mandatory for the Group’s and the Bank’s 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and which the Group and the Bank has not early adopted. 

Amendment in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. Sale or 

Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture. The amendments address an acknowledged 

inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28, in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets 
between an investor and its associate or joint venture.  The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss 

is recognized when a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is 

recognized when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a 

subsidiary. In December 2015 the IASB postponed the effective date of this amendment indefinitely pending the outcome 
of its research project on the equity method of accounting. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. The 

Group and the Bank are assessing if there will be a material effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 

Conceptual Framework in IFRS standards. The IASB issued the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting on 

29 March 2018. The Conceptual Framework sets out a comprehensive set of concepts for financial reporting, standard 
setting, guidance for preparers in developing consistent accounting policies and assistance to others in their efforts to 

understand and interpret the standards. IASB also issued a separate accompanying document, Amendments to 

References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards, which sets out the amendments to affected standards in 

order to update references to the revised Conceptual Framework. Its objective is to support transition to the revised 
Conceptual Framework for companies that develop accounting policies using the Conceptual Framework when no IFRS 

Standard applies to a particular transaction. For preparers who develop accounting policies based on the Conceptual 

Framework, it is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.  

IFRS 3: Business Combinations (Amendments). The IASB issued amendments in Definition of a Business (Amendments to 
IFRS 3) aimed at resolving the difficulties that arise when an entity determines whether it has acquired a business or a 

group of assets. The Amendments are effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is in the first 

annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and to asset acquisitions that occur on or after the beginning 

of that period, with earlier application permitted. These Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group 
and the Bank are assessing if there will be a material effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: 

Definition of ‘material’ (Amendments). The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2020 with earlier application permitted. The Amendments clarify the definition of material and how it should be applied. 
The new definition states that, ’Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected 

to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial 

statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity’. In addition, the explanations 

accompanying the definition have been improved. The Amendments also ensure that the definition of material is 
consistent across all IFRS Standards. The Group and the Bank are assessing if there will be a material effect on the financial 

statements of the Group and the Bank. 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 (Amendments). The amendments are effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and must be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. In 
September 2019, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7, which concludes phase one of its work to 

respond to the effects of Interbank Offered Rates (IBOR) reform on financial reporting. Phase two will focus on issues that 

could affect financial reporting when an existing interest rate benchmark is replaced with a risk-free interest rate (an 

RFR). The amendments published, deal with issues affecting financial reporting in the period before the replacement of 
an existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative interest rate and address the implications for specific hedge 

accounting requirements in IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 

which require forward-looking analysis. The amendments provided temporary reliefs, applicable to all hedging 

relationships that are directly affected by the interest rate benchmark reform, which enable hedge accounting to continue 
during the period of uncertainty before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative nearly 

risk-free interest rate. There are also amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures regarding additional 

disclosures around uncertainty arising from the interest rate benchmark reform. The Group and the Bank are assessing if 

there will be a material effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 
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1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.23.  New and amended Standards and interpretations (continued) 

1.23.2. New Accounting Pronouncements  (continued) 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments). The 

amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 with earlier application 
permitted. The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the requirements by helping companies determine 

whether, in the statement of financial position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain settlement date should be 

classified as current or non-current. The amendments affect the presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial 

position and do not change existing requirements around measurement or timing of recognition of any asset, liability, 
income or expenses, nor the information that entities disclose about those items. Also, the amendments clarify the 

classification requirements for debt which may be settled by the company issuing own equity instruments. These 

Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group and the Bank are assessing if there will be a material effect 

on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 

There are no other new or revised standards or interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have 

a material impact on the Group and the Bank. 

1.24. Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies 

1.24.1. Expected credit loss model  

When calculating expected credit loss (ECL) there are a number of key concepts that require a high level of judgement. 

Estimating expected credit loss is, by its very nature, uncertain and the accuracy of these estimates depends on many 

factors, e.g. macroeconomic forecasts and involves complex modelling and judgements. The assessment of significant 

increase in credit risk is a new concept under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and will require significant judgement. At the 
end of each reporting period the Group shall perform an assessment of whether credit risk has increased significantly since 

initial recognition by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial 

instrument, using key risk indicators that are used in the Group’s existing risk management processes. Another area 

requiring significant judgement is the incorporation of forward-looking information and macroeconomic scenarios. IFRS 9 
requires an unbiased and probability-weighted estimate of credit losses by evaluating a range of possible outcomes that 

incorporates forecasts of future economic conditions. The Group uses internally developed macroeconomic forecasts as 

the basis for the forward-looking information in the ECL measurement. The Group uses both models and expert credit 

judgement (ECJ) in order to determine ECLs. The objective of applying ECJ is to incorporate the estimated impact of factors 
not captured in the modelled ECL. The degree of judgement that is required to estimate expected credit losses depends 

on the outcome from calculations, materiality and the availability of detailed information. The models, assessment and 

assumptions are regularly reviewed by the risk organization of the Group and approved by the Group Risk Committee. 

1.24.2. Fair value measurement of financial instruments 

The objective of the fair value measurement is to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place 

between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. The best evidence of fair value 

is a quoted price for the instrument being measured in an actively traded market. Where the market for a financial 

instrument is not active, fair value is calculated using an established valuation technique. These valuation techniques 
involve a degree of estimation, the extent of which depends on the instrument’s complexity and the availability of market-

based data. When valuing financial liabilities at fair value own credit standing is reflected. Given the uncertainty and 

subjective nature of valuing financial instruments at fair value, it is possible that the outcomes in the next financial year 

could differ from the assumptions used. 

For some of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities, especially for certain derivatives, quoted prices are not available, 

and valuation models are used to estimate fair value. As part of the fair value measurement, valuation adjustments are 

made when valuing derivative financial instruments, to incorporate counterparty and own credit risk. The methodologies 

for estimating valuation adjustments are continuously revised as a result of changing market practices in response to 
regulatory and accounting policy changes, as well as general market developments. 

The Group has an established control environment for the determination of fair values of financial instruments that 

includes a review, independently from the business, of valuation models and prices.  

For disclosure purposes, fair values are classified in a fair value hierarchy according to the level of observability of the 
inputs, see note 3 Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities . 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2. Risk policy and management 

2.1. Risk policy and structure 

SEB Banka Group defines risk as the possibility of a negative deviation from an expected financial outcome. SEB Banka 

Group’s profitability is directly dependent upon its ability to evaluate, manage and price the risks encountered, while 
maintaining an adequate capital and liquidity position to meet unforeseen events. The Supervisory Board is responsible 

for setting the maximum acceptable levels of risks to be taken by the bank. The risk tolerance statements conveys the 

direction and level of risk, funding structure, and necessary liquidity and capital buffers. 

SEB Banka Group’s main risk is credit risk. Other risks include market risk, operational risk, business risk, and liquidity risk. 
In order to cover the risks, SEB holds a capital buffer and liquidity reserves in case of unforeseen events. SEB strives to 

continuously identify and manage risks in its operations, both existing and emerging risks, in a designated risk management 

process. The aggregate risk profile of SEB is regularly monitored and reported to the management bodies. In the annual 

capital adequacy process, the capital needs are evaluated based on the risk profile and future business strategy, taking 
into consideration the financial stability requirements of the regulators, debt investors, business counterparties and 

shareholders ’required rate of return. 

RISK PROFILE 

  
  

Risk type
 SEB Banka Group shall Comment

Credit risk and 

asset quality

Have a robust credit culture  based on 

long term relationships, knowledge about 

the customers and focus on their 

repayment ability. This will lead to a high 

quality credit portfolio.

• SEB Banka Group has a wellbalanced credit 

portfolio with main exposure to corporates and 

households in Latvia.

• Asset quality remains strong with low credit losses.

Market risk Achieve low earnings volatility by 

generating revenues based on customer-

driven business.

Operational 

and 

reputational 

risk 

Strive to mitigate operational risks  in 

all business activities and maintain the 

bank’s reputation.

• Continuously working to maintain an effective internal 

control framework and ensure a structured and 

consistent usage of risk mitigating tools and processes 

for all identified operational risks.

• Managing and mitigating cyber and information risks 

are key priorities to ensure secure and available 

information, services and products for customers

Liquidity and 

funding risk

Have a soundly structured liquidity 

position and sufficient liquid reserves to 

meet potential net outflows in a stressed 

scenario.

• Strong liquidity position, large buffers above 

regulatory ratios.

• SEB Banka Group’s primary funding sources are 

customer deposits and wholesale funding.

Aggregated 

risk and 

capital 

adequacy

Maintain satisfactory capital strength 

in order to sustain aggregated risks , 

and guarantee the bank’s long-term 

survival and its position as a financial 

counterparty, while operating within 

regulatory requirements.

• SEB is strongly capitalised in relation to regulatory 

capital requirements.

• The aim is to hold a capital adequacy buffer of around 

100 basis points above the regulatory requirement.

• Market risk arises in SEB's customer-driven trading 

activity and its liquidity portfolio. Generally, SEB Banka 

Group's market risk is low.

• Interest rate risk arises due to mismatches in rates and 

maturities in the bank's assets and liabilities, and is 

managed by the Treasury function.
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2.2. Credit risk 

Definition 

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of an obligor to fulfil its obligations towards The Group. The definition also 

comprises counterparty risk derived from the trading operations, country risk, settlement risk, and credit concentration 
risk.  

Credit risk is the main risk in the Group, which arises in the lending and commitments to customers, including corporates, 

financial institutions, public sector entities and private individuals. This is referred to as the credit portfolio. The Group’s 

total credit exposure consists of the credit portfolio as well as debt instruments. 

Risk management 

Credit policies and approval process 

The main principle in The Group’s credit policy is that all lending is based on credit analysis and is proportionate to the 

customer’s cash flow and ability to repay. The customer shall be known by the bank and the purpose of the loan shall be 
fully understood. The business units take full responsibility of the credit risk until repayment. 

A credit approval is based on an evaluation of the customer’s creditworthiness and type of credit. Relevant factors include 

the customer’s current and anticipated financial position and protection provided by covenants and collateral. A credit 

approval takes the proposed transaction into account as well as the customer’s total business with the bank. The credit 
decision also includes a risk classification of the customer based on this analysis. The process differs depending on the 

type of customer (e.g., retail, corporate or institutional), risk level, and size and type of transaction. For larger corporate 

customers, independent and professional credit analysis is particularly important, and decisions are mostly taken by a 

credit committee. For households and small businesses, the credit approval is often based on credit scoring models. 
Deciding on the risk taking is performed collegially by credit committees or by the authorised persons in accordance with 

the decision-making limits established by the bank’s management. 

The Group’s credit policies reflect the Group’s approach to sustainability as described in the Corporate Sustainability 

Policy, the Environmental Policy, the Human Rights Policy, and the Credit Policy on Corporate Sustainability. Position 
statements on climate change, child labour and access to fresh water as well as number of industry sector policies shall 

be considered in the credit granting process and are also used in customer dialogues. Environmental, social and 

governance risks shall be considered in the credit analysis. 

Risk mitigation 

In order to reduce the credit risk, a number of credit risk mitigation techniques are used. The method used depends on its 

suitability for the product and the customer in question, its legal enforceability, and on SEB’s experience and capacity to 

manage and control the particular technique. The most important credit risk mitigation techniques are collateral pledges 

and guarantees. The most common types of pledges are real estate, floating charges (commercial pledge – account 
receivables, inventories, machinery, equipment and vehicles) and financial securities. The main guarantors are state, 

municipalities and credit institutions whose creditworthiness is assessed by the same methods and the frequency as the 

same customer group borrowers creditworthiness. 

The Group’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have not significantly changed during the reporting period and there 
has been no significant change in the overall quality of the collateral held by the Group since the prior period. 

Limits and monitoring 

To manage the credit risk for individual customers or customer groups, a limit is established that reflects the maximum 

exposure that The Group is willing to accept.  

The Group continuously reviews the quality of its credit exposures. All limits and risk classes are reviewed at least annually 

by a credit approval body (a credit committee consisting of at least two bank officers as authorised by the Credit 

Instruction, adopted by the Management Board). 

For regular monitoring of private individuals and small corporates - retail portfolio - the behavioral scoring models are in 
use. The models are based on the application scoring models used in loans analysis process. Client executives have an 

obligation to update financials of small corporates at least once a year. Behavioral score is calculated monthly for all 

private individuals and small corporates loans. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2.  Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.2.  Credit risk (continued) 

Client executives have an obligation to review collateral values at least once a year and update if necessary. Non-retail 

collateral values are normally reviewed by credit committees in the process of customer annual review. Collateral values 
of living spaces and land are being adjusted with indexes calculated in-house based on transaction statistics of LATIO.  

Weak or impaired exposures are subject to more frequent reviews. The objective is to identify credit exposures with an 

elevated risk of loss at an early stage and to work together with the customer towards a solution that enables the customer 

to meet its financial obligations and The Group to avoid or limit credit losses. Problem exposures and recovering written-
off loans are handled by Special Credit Management Division by using several methods: negotiations with clients, 

rehabilitation, execution, bankruptcy proceedings. Special Credit Management Division specialists are involved with 

problem loans (or potential problem loans) at the early stage to ensure most valuable outcome for both the client and the 

bank. 

Allowances are made for expected credit losses of financial assets in scope of the accounting standard IFRS 9 Financial 

Instruments. The guiding principle of the expected credit loss model is to reflect the general pattern of deterioration or 

improvement in the credit quality of the assets.  

Loans where the contractual terms have been amended in favour of the customer due to financial difficulties are referred 
to as forborne loans. Forbearance measures range from amortisation holidays (the most common measure) to refinancing 

with new terms and debt forgiveness. A relevant credit approval body shall approve the forbearance measures as well as 

the classification of the loan as being forborne or not. 

Credit portfolio analysis and stress tests 

The risk organisation regularly reviews and assesses the aggregate credit portfolio based on industry, geography, risk 

class, product type, size and other parameters. Risk concentrations in geographic and industry sectors as well as in large 

single names are thoroughly analysed, both in respect of direct and indirect exposures and in the form of collateral, 

guarantees and credit derivatives.  

Stress tests of the credit portfolio, including reverse stress tests, are performed regularly as a part of The Group annual 

internal capital adequacy assessment process. Specific analyses and stress tests of certain sectors or sub-portfolios are 

performed as required. 

Risk measurement 

Credit risk is measured for all exposures, both in the banking book and the trading book.  

The Group divides loan portfolio into two broad segments:  

1) non-retail portfolio including loans to legal entities belonging to counterparty group’s with credit risk assumed by The 

Group exceeding 500 000 euros (2018: 500 000 euros); and  

2) retail portfolio consisting of small businesses’ and private individuals’ sub-segments.  

 An internal ratings-based (IRB) risk classification system approved by the regulator is used for the majority of the bank’s 

portfolios and reflects the risk of default on payment obligations. The Group received approval for a significant 

amendment of its risk classification system for the non-retail portfolio in January 2019. 

For significant corporate portfolios, the risk classification system contains specific rating tools and PD (probability of 

default) scales. Larger and mid-sized counterparties are measured on a risk class scale of 1–16, while Small and Medium-

sized Enterprises (SMEs) are measured on a scale of 1–12. According to the previously used risk classification system 

also Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs) were measured on a scale of 1–16 as described in previous year’s annual 
report. Defaulted counterparties are given the highest risk class, and the three risk classes prior to default are defined as 

“watch list”. For each risk class scale, SEB makes individual one-year, through-the-cycle probability of default estimates, 

which are based on more than 20 years of internal and external data. 

For private individuals and small businesses, The Group uses credit scoring systems to estimate PD for the customer. The 
scoring model for small businesses considers financial condition based on last two annual reports, credit history with the 

bank and based on external credit history register, experience of the customer. The outcome of the scoring model is credit 

score, expressing risk level and determining decision-making level. Depending on the score clients are divided into quality 

classes A, B, C and D, where A is the best and D is the worst quality class. Customers with insufficient information for score 
calculation are included to the worst quality class. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2.  Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.2.  Credit risk (continued) 

In analysing loans to private individuals the credit scoring and left-to-live model (this measures the customer’s ability to 

service the loan taking into account net income and cost of living) is used. The output of the model is credit score. Based 
on the score the clients are divided into quality classes A, B, C, and D, where A is the best and D is the worst quality class.   

Counterparty risk in derivative contracts 

The Group enters into derivatives contracts primarily to support customers in the management of their financial exposures 

and then normally manages the resulting positions by entering offsetting contracts with the parent company. 

Counterparty credit risk in derivative contracts is the risk of a counterparty not living up to its contractual obligations 

where The Group has a claim on the counterparty. The claim on the counterparty corresponds to a net positive exposure 

in favour of The Group. Since the market value of a derivative fluctuates during the term to maturity, the uncertainty of 

future market conditions must be taken into account and a credit risk equivalent is calculated. 

Credit risk related to derivatives is handled in Note 3.Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities. So in Credit risk 

chapter we concentrate on credit risk arising from loans and receivables from customers and credit institutions (other 

credit institutions). 

Counterparty risk in derivative contracts affects the profit and loss through credit/debit valuation adjustments (CVA/DVA) 
reflecting the credit risk associated with derivative positions. These adjustments depend on market risk factors such as 

interest rate, foreign exchange rates and credit spreads. 

Key macroeconomic variable assumptions for calculating ECL allowances 

The Group uses internally developed macroeconomic forecasts as the basis for the forward-looking information 
incorporated in the ECL measurement. In order to ensure an unbiased estimation of credit losses under IFRS 9, at least 

three scenarios are used. One of the scenarios is the base case scenario, representing the most likely outcome, which is 

also applied in the financial planning and budgeting process, while the other case scenarios represent more positive or 

negative outcomes. The probability weights assigned to each scenario are determined using a combination of statistical 
analysis and expert judgment. The scenarios are reviewed four times a year, or more frequently when appropriate due to 

rapid developments. The most significant macroeconomic variable assumptions of the Base scenario used as of 31 

December 2019, are set out below. Individual scenarios for SEB’s home markets are used. 

 

 Latvia 2019 2020 2021 2022 

Domestic GDP growth 2.4% 2.0% 2.5% 2.5% 

Real Estate Price growth 2.5% 2.0% 2.5% 2.5% 

Unemployment rate 6.5% 6.2% 6.3% 6.2% 

Household consumption expenditure growth 2.8% 2.5% 3.1% 3.0% 

Residential real estate price growth 7.0% 2.5% 0.5% 2.5% 

Nominal wage growth 7.3% 6.0% 4.5% 4.5% 

Inflation rate 2.8% 2.2% 2.5% 2.0% 

The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL allowance of the non-retail, retail corporates and private individuals 

portfolios, respectively, are as follows: 

Non-retail portfolios    

(i) GDP  impact on companies' performance  

(ii) Real estate price development impact on collateral valuations 
    

Retail portfolios:   
(i) Unemployment rate impact on borrowers' ability to meet their contractual repayments 

(ii) Household consumption expenditure 

growth 

impact on borrowers' ability to meet their contractual obligations 

(iii) Residential real estate price growth impact on mortgage collateral valuations 

As of 31 December 2019, the probability of the negative scenario was estimated to 20-25 per cent (31 December 2018: 

20-25 per cent) and the probability of the positive scenario was 17 per cent (31 December 2018: 15 per cent).  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2.  Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.2.  Credit risk (continued) 

Sensitivity analysis of macroeconomic assumptions 

In general, a worsening of the outlook on forecasted macroeconomic variables for each scenario or an increase in the 
probability of the negative scenario occurring will both increase the number of loans migrating from Stage 1 to Stage 2 

and increase the estimated ECL allowances. On the other hand, an improvement in the outlook on forecasted 

macroeconomic variables or an increase in the probability of the positive scenario occurring will have the opposite positive 

impact. 

Should the positive and negative scenarios be assigned 100 per cent probability of occurring, the model calculated ECL 

allowances would increase by 4 per cent and decrease by 3 per cent, respectively compared to the weighted scenario 

 ECL allowances resulting from 

scenario 

Difference from the probability 

weighted ECL allowances, % 

Negative scenario 37.1 4% 

Positive scenario 34.6 -3% 

Key assumptions for triggering significant increase in credit risk (SICR)  

For arrangements with initial origination date as of 1 January 2018 or later, the primary indicator is changes in lifetime 

probability of default (PD) by comparing the scenario weighted annualised lifetime PD at the reporting date with the 

scenario weighted annualised lifetime PD at initial recognition. For arrangements with an initial origination date prior to 1 

January 2018 changes in SEB internal risk classification since initial origination are used as the primary indicator. 

Quantitative measures for triggering significant increase in credit risk (SICR) 

 For arrangements originated prior 

to 1 January 2018 

For arrangements originated on or 

after 1 January 2018 

Watch list * * 

Investment grade 2 - 7  grades 
Annualised lifetime PD increase by 

200% and ≥ 50 basis points 

Standard monitoring 1 - 2 grades 
Annualised lifetime PD increase by 

200% and ≥ 50 basis points 

* Placement of a financial asset on watch list automatically classifies it as a significant increase in credit risk and places it 

in Stage 2. 

Regardless of the quantitative indicator, a significant increase in credit risk is triggered if the following back-stop indicators 

occur:  

- payments are past due >30 days but < 90 days, or 

- financial assets are forborne (where due to the customer’s financial difficulties the contractual terms of the loans 
have been revised and concessions given). 

Back stop indicators normally overlap with the quantitative indicator of significant increase in credit risk. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2.  Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.2.  Credit risk (continued) 

Concentration of financial assets and off-balance liabilities by counterparty and economic sector are as follows: 

(millions of EUR) 

  In the statement of financial position   

31/12/2019 

Cash and balances with 

central bank, loans to 
credit institutions, loans to 

the public 

Securities, equities, 
derivatives 

Contingent 

liabilities, 
financial 

commitments 

    

Central bank                                            602.3   0.1 

General government                                                55.1                                150.9  2.2 

Credit institutions                                                39.6                                    38.3  42.3 

Other financial corporation                                                   9.1                                       8.6  55.7 

Non-financial corporation                                       1,892.8                                       6.0  457.9 

of which:    

Agriculture, forestry and fishing                                            247.0   36.8 

Mining and quarrying                                                   2.8   0.5 

Manufacturing                                            176.9                                       0.1  77.2 

Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning 

supply 
                                           227.9                                       2.0  5.6 

Water supply                                                13.3   2.5 

Construction                                                15.7   59.3 

Wholesale and retail trade                                            291.0                                       2.0  126.5 

Transport and storage                                            215.9   79.3 

Accommodation and food service activities                                                   7.5   0.8 

Information and communication                                                22.3   18.1 

Real estate activities                                            567.5                                       1.9  30.5 

Professional, scientific and technical activities                                                   5.9   3 

Administrative and support service activities                                                37.9   2 

Education                                                   1.3   
 

Human health services and social work 

activities 
                                               16.1   2.3 

Arts, entertainment and recreation                                                   3.3   0.8 

Other services                                                40.5   12.7 

Households                                       1,071.1   78.2 

 
3,670.0 203.8 636.4 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2.  Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.2.  Credit risk (continued) 

(millions of EUR) 

  In the statement of financial position   

31/12/2018 

Cash and balances with 

central bank, loans to 

credit institutions, loans to 
the public 

Securities, equities, 

derivatives 

Contingent 

liabilities, 

financial 
commitments 

    

Central bank 350.1  0.1 

General government 41.7 255.2 9.6 

Credit institutions                                                58.5                                    29.1  32.9 

Other financial corporation                                                11.4                                       6.0  101.5 

Non-financial corporation                                       1,896.7                                       4.5  573.9 

of which:    

Agriculture, forestry and fishing                                            235.9   44.1 

Mining and quarrying                                                   3.2   0.5 

Manufacturing                                            194.7                                       0.3  71.4 

Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply                                            223.8                                       1.7  63.1 

Water supply                                                12.4   1.9 

Construction                                                18.9   62.8 

Wholesale and retail trade                                            300.0                                       1.1  97.2 

Transport and storage                                            227.6   113.9 

Accommodation and food service activities                                                   9.6   0.8 

Information and communication                                                29.3   30.3 

Real estate activities                                            528.0                                       1.4  67.9 

Professional, scientific and technical activities                                                   4.6   3.7 

Administrative and support service activities                                                34.6   1.8 

Education                                                   1.3   0.1 

Human health services and social work activities                                                13.2   0.6 

Arts, entertainment and recreation                                                   3.8   0.7 

Other services                                                55.8   13.1 

Households                                       1,071.1    81.4 

                                       3,429.5                                294.8                   799.4 

 

Large exposures 
 

    31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 Number/

Amount 

% from net 

own funds 
 

Number/

Amount 

% from net 

own funds 

      
Number of customer with large exposures 46   54  

      

Due from customer with large exposures (EUR mil.) 561.7 177.4%  746.8 236.3% 

      

Own funds included in calculation of capital adequacy 316.7   316.1  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2.  Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.2.  Credit risk (continued) 

Large exposures contain due from central bank, credit institutions or customers (loans, interests, securities) and off-

balance sheet commitments to central bank, credit institutions or customers, which may turn into claims. 

The following is deducted from large exposures: 

- claims to the parent company of the bank and their subsidiaries which are under the consolidated supervision of financial 

inspections of concerned states; 

- state guaranteed study loans (credit risk 0%); 
- due from central bank, central government and government authorities, which belong to a group with credit risk 

considered at 0%. 

Large credit risk exposure is defined by the Regulation No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council and 

is the total exposure of one party or related parties to the group which exceeds 10% of the group's net own funds, 31.6 
million euros as at 31 December 2019 (31.6 million euros as at 31 December 2018). All instruments where credit risk 

may arise to the group are taken into consideration. The limit of the total exposure of one party or related parties is 25%. 

Total exposure of any group of related parties did not exceed the regulatory limit of 25% in The Group. 

 
Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other enhancement 

(millions of EUR) 

 2019   2018  

      

Subject to ECL allowances:      

Balances with central bank       563.3       315.8   

Loans to credit institutions               39.6          58.5   

Loans to the public      3,028.1    2,957.9   

   Corporates      1,901.9    1,908.1   

   Public sector             55.1             41.7   

   Mortgage         861.2           802.6   

   Other loans to Private individuals           209.9         205.5   

Other financial assets           42.3            29.7   
      

Not subject to ECL allowances:      

Debt securities 150.6   254.9  

Derivatives 44.7            34.0   

Equity instruments 8.5   5.9  

      

Exposures related to off-balance sheet items and 

guarantees 
636.4 

  
799.4 

 

      

Maximum exposure 
                                 

3,877.10     
 

  
3,656.70     

 

2.3. Liquidity risk 

Definition 

Liquidity risk is the risk that The Group is unable to refinance its existing assets or is unable to meet the demand for 

additional liquidity. Liquidity risk also entails the risk that The Group is forced to borrow at unfavourable rates or is forced 

to sell assets at a loss in order to meet its payment commitments.  

Liquidity management and risk measurement 

The Supervisory Board has established a comprehensive framework for managing The Group’s liquidity requirements and 

risks in the short- and long-term. The aim of The Group’s liquidity risk management is to ensure that The Group has a 

controlled liquidity risk situation, with adequate volumes of liquid assets to meet its liquidity requirements in all 

foreseeable circumstances, without incurring substantial cost. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2.  Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.3.  Liquidity risk (continued) 

The liquidity risk is managed through the limits set by the Management Board. The treasury function has the overall 
responsibility for liquidity management and funding. Risk department measures limit utilisation based on different market 

conditions and liquidity stress tests on a daily basis. The liquidity risk position is reported at least on a quarterly basis to 

ALCO and quarterly to the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board.  

Liquidity management and the structuring of the balance sheet from a liquidity point of view are built on three basic 
perspectives:  

(i) the structural liquidity perspective, in which stable funding is put in relation to illiquid assets;  

(ii) The Group’s tolerance for short-term stress in the form of a shutdown of the wholesale and interbank 

funding markets (wholesale funding dependence); and,  

(iii) The Group’s tolerance to a severe stress scenario (survival horizon) where, in addition to a shutdown of the 

funding market, the bank experiences a severe outflow of deposits. 

Structural liquidity risk 

In order to maintain a sound structural liquidity position, the structure of the liability side should be based on the 

composition of assets. The more long-term lending and other illiquid assets, the more stable funding is required. In The 

Group, this is measured as the Core Gap ratio, which is conceptually equivalent to the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), 
i.e., a ratio between stable funding (over 1 year maturity) and illiquid assets (over 1 year maturity). The difference 

between the internal Core Gap ratio and the external NSFR is that the Core Gap ratio is calculated on a more detailed level 

based on internal statistics, which results in different weightings of available and required stable funding. 

Wholesale funding dependence 

The Group measures wholesale funding dependence as the loan to deposit ratio which, is calculated by dividing the bank’s 

total loans to the public by its total deposits from the public. A ratio below 100% means that lending to the public is being 

fully financed by deposits from the same segment, i.e. there is no reliance on other types of funding (typically wholesale 

funding). 

Stressed survival horizon 

Severe stress can be modelled by combining assumptions of a wholesale funding market shutdown with assumptions of 

deposit outflows, drawdowns on commitments, etc. The outcome is captured by the regulatory defined Liquidity Coverage 

Ratio (LCR) where, in a stressed scenario, modelled net outflows during a 30-day period are related to the amount of total 
liquid assets. The Group also measures the time it would take for the liquid assets to be depleted in a severely stressed 

scenario, expressed as the stressed survival horizon.  

Internal liquidity adequacy assessment process 

Liquidity risk is not primarily mitigated by capital. However, there are strong links between a bank’s capital and liquidity 
position. Hence, an internal liquidity adequacy assessment process (ILAAP) complements the ICAAP. The ILAAP is 

designed to identify potential gaps against SEB’s long-term desired level of liquidity adequacy, taking into account that 
effective liquidity management is a continuous process. 

 

Liquidity risk management 

measures   

  

  
31/12/2019  

    
31/12/2018 

Core Gap ratio 107.0% 104.9% 

Loan to deposit ratio 98.4% 110.0% 

Liquidity Coverage ratio 176.3% 161.8% 

Retail deposits, which are stable to large extent, are the most important financing source for The Group. Belonging to the 

international banking group gives SEB banka additional assurance to manage long-term liquidity. Liquidity is managed in 

co-operation with the Group Treasury. Through the parent company SEB banka has better access to the international 

money markets than on individual basis.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2.  Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.3.  Liquidity risk (continued) 

Next table presents the cash flows payable by SEB banka under non-derivative financial liabilities by remaining 

contractual maturity as of 31 December 2019. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash 
flows 

Maturity 
On 

demand 

Up to 3 

month 

3-12 

month 

1-5 

years 

Over 5 

years Total 

Carrying 

value in 

statement 
of 

financial 

position  

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Cash and balances with central 

bank 
563.3 - - - 39.0 602.3 602.3 

Government bonds - 23.3 4.4 123.0  150.7 150.6 

Total assets used for liquidity 
management 

563.3 23.3 4.4 123.0 39.0 753.0 752.9 

Deposits from central banks 

and credit institutions 
36.8 51.7 

145.

3 
96.3 - 330.1 327.6 

Deposits and borrowings from 

the public 

3 

000.9 
26.6 57.7 1.7 2.30 

3 089.

2 
3 089.2 

Other financial liabilities 32.1 0.1 1.1 12.9 38.1 84.3 84.3 

Total undiscounted non-

derivative financial liabilities 
3 069.8 78.4 204.1 110.9 40.4 3 503.6 3 501.1 

Irrevocable off-balance sheet 

commitments 
- 77.8 204.3 90.7 92.3 465.1 - 

 

The table below allocates the Group’s financial liabilities and liquid assets cash flows as at 31 December 2018.  

 

Maturity 
On 

demand 

Up to 3 

month 

3-12 

month 

1-5 

years 

Over 5 

years Total 

Carrying 

value in 
statement 

of 

financial 

position  

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Cash and balances with central 
bank 

315.8 - - - 34.3 350.1 350.1 

Government bonds - 2.4 137.1 116.5 - 256.0 254.9 

Total assets used for liquidity 

management 
315.8 2.4 137.1 116.5 34.3 606.1 605.0 

Deposits from central banks 

and credit institutions  
35.1 36.7 185.3 292.9 - 550.0 546.7 

Deposits and borrowings from 

the public 
2 596.0 7.0 87.4 1.7 2.4 2 694.5 2 694.5 

Other financial liabilities 20.5 0.1 1.0 2.9 19.0 43.5 43.5 

Total undiscounted non-

derivative financial liabilities 
2 651.6 43.8 273.7 297.5 21.4 3 288.0 3 284.7 

Irrevocable off-balance sheet 
commitments 

0.5 125.9 156.9 187.1 169.6 640.0 - 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2.  Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.3.  Liquidity risk (continued) 

Next table presents undiscounted derivative instruments analysis for the Group as of 31 December 2019. Gross-settled 

derivatives are included in the analysis whether their fair value is negative or positive at balance sheet date. Pay leg of 
such derivatives is presented as outflow and receive leg as inflow. 

 

Gross-settled derivatives 

Maturity On demand Up to 3 month 3-12 month 1-5 years 

Over 5 

years Total 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

       

Foreign exchange derivatives       

Outflow - 118.5 1.2 311.1 - 430.8 

Inflow - 118.3 1.2 311.1 - 430.6 

 

 

The table below allocates the Group’s derivative cash flows as at 31 December 2018: 
 

 Gross-settled derivatives 

Maturity On demand Up to 3 month 3-12 month 1-5 years 

Over 5 

years Total 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

       

Foreign exchange derivatives       

Outflow - 74.8 - 307.8 - 382.6 

Inflow - 74.8 - 307.8 - 382.6 

 

 

2.4. Market risk 

Definition 

Market risk is the risk of losses in balance sheet positions and obligations, arising from adverse movements in market 

prices. Market risk can arise from changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, credit spreads, commodity and equity 

prices, implied volatilities, inflation and market liquidity. A clear distinction is made between market risks related to trading 

activity, i.e., trading book risks, and structural market and net interest income risks, i.e., banking book risks. Whereas 
positions in the trading book are held with a trading intent and under a daily mark-to-market regime, positions in the 

banking book do not have a trading intent and are typically held at amortised cost. 

Risk management 

Market risks in the trading book arises from bank’s customer-driven trading activities. Market risk also arises in the form 
of interest rate risk in the banking book as a result of balance sheet mismatches in currencies, interest terms and interest 

rate periods. The treasury function has overall responsibility for managing these risks. The treasury function also manages 

a liquidity portfolio, which is part of bank’s liquidity reserve. The market risk from the liquidity portfolio comes from credit 

spread risk and interest rate risk in pledgeable and highly liquid bonds. 

Management defines how much market risk is acceptable by setting the overall market risk limits and general instructions 

as part of bank’s risk appetite.  Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board sets tolerance levels within given market risk 

limits. 

The Group measures the risks using different methods of risk valuation and management pursuant to the type of risk. 
Important role in risk prevention is diversification of risk assets and limitation for trading positions. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2.  Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.4.  Market risk (continued) 

The risk organisation measures, follows up and reports the market risk taken by the various units within The Group on a 

daily basis. The risk control function monitors limit compliance and market prices at closing as well as valuation standards 
and the introduction of new products. Market risks are reported at least on a quarterly basis to the ALCO and to the Risk 

Committee of the Supervisory Board. 

Risk measurement  

When assessing the market risk exposure, the Group uses measures that capture losses under normal and stressed market 
conditions. Market risks under normal market circumstances are measured using Value at Risk (VaR) as well as specific 

measures that are relevant for the various risk types. These measures are complemented by stress tests and scenario 

analyses, in which potential losses under extreme market conditions are estimated. Since no measurement method can 

cover all risks at all times, several approaches are used, and the results are assessed based on judgment and experience. 

Value at Risk and Stressed Value at Risk 

VaR expresses the maximum potential loss that could arise during a certain time period with a given degree of probability. 

The Group uses a historical simulation VaR model with a ten-day time horizon and 99 per cent confidence interval to 

measure, limit and report VaR. The model aggregates market risk exposure for all risk types and covers a wide range of 
risk factors in all asset classes. The Group also uses a stressed VaR measure, where VaR is calculated for the current 

portfolio using market data from a historic, turbulent time period covering the Lehman Brothers’ default. The VaR model 

is subject to validation using back-testing analysis. 

A limitation of the Group’s VaR model is that it uses historical data to estimate potential market changes. As such it may 
not predict all outcomes, especially in a rapidly changing market. Also, VaR does not take into account any actions to 

reduce risk as the model assumes that the portfolio is unchanged. 

Value at Risk assessment results on total portfolios positions: 

 

   31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

   EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

Interest risk (stand-alone)   0.5  0.1 

Credit spread risk (stand-alone)   0.0  0.0 

Foreign exchange risk (stand-alone)   0.0  0.0 

Equity price risk (stand-alone)   0.9  0.8 

Diversification effect   -0.4  -0.1 

Total   1.0  0.8 

 

Scenario analysis and Stress tests   

Scenario analysis and stress tests are a key part of the risk management framework, complementing the VaR measure. In 

particular, they test the portfolios using scenarios other than those available in the VaR simulation window, and cover 

longer time horizons. The Group stresses its portfolios by applying extreme movements in market factors which have been 

observed in the past (historical scenarios) as well as extreme movements that could potentially happen in the future 
(hypothetical or forward-looking scenarios).  

This type of analysis provides management with a view on the potential impact that large market moves in individual risk 

factors, as well as broader market scenarios, could have on a portfolio.  

Specific risk measures 

VaR and stress tests are complemented by specific risk measures including Delta 1% and NII sensitivity for interest risk, 

and single and aggregated FX for currency risk. 

In addition, all units that handle risk for financial instruments valued at market are limited by a stop-loss limit. The stop-

loss limit indicates the maximum loss a unit can incur before mitigating actions are taken. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2.  Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.4.  Market risk (continued) 

2.4.1. Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk arises both through the Group’s foreign exchange trading and because The Group’s activities are 
carried out in various currencies. The Group’s main objective for taking foreign exchange risk is to facilitate smooth foreign 

exchange trading for its customers and to manage the flows from customers’ deals effectively. Together with the 

customers’ deals related flows The Group manages the structural foreign exchange risk inherent in the structure of the 

balance sheet and earnings.  

Market risks arising from the foreign exchange positions are measured internally within the overall VaR framework. As a 

complement ALCO has set limits for open foreign currency positions by individual currencies and also on an aggregated 

level as a sum of long or short positions, depending of which one is higher on absolute terms. Management of open foreign 

currency positions is the responsibility of the Markets department, analysis and limit follow-up is performed by the Risk 
department. 

The table below summarizes The Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at the reporting date. 

 

Currency 

 31/12/2019 

 

31/12/2018 

Rates 
Position, 
EUR mil. 

Percentage of 
capital 

 Position, 
EUR mil. 

Percentage of 
capital 

       

U.S. Dollars (USD) 10.4468 0.1 0.0  0.0 0.0 

The remaining long positions N/A 0.2 0.1  0.3 0.1 

The remaining short positions N/A -0.2 -0.1  -0.4 -0.1 

       

Open position N/A 0.1 0.0  -0.1 0.0 

 

Net currency position was under 1% level of net own funds, 3.2 million euros as at 31 December 2019 (3.2 million euros 

as at 31 December 2018). 

2.4.2. Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of the Group’s assets, liabilities and interest-related derivatives will be 

negatively affected by changes in interest rates or other relevant risk factors. 

The majority of the Group’s interest rate risks are structural and arise within the banking operations when there is a 

mismatch between the interest fixing periods of assets and liabilities, including derivatives. 

The Group uses Delta 1% methodology for measuring the assets-liability mismatch risk, arising from the structure of 

Assets exposed to interest rate risk (Financial Assets) and Liabilities exposed to interest rate risk (Financial Liabilities) to 

reflect change in economic value due to change in interest rates. Delta 1% is defined as the change in market value arising 

from an adverse one percentage unit parallel shift in all interest rates in each currency. Delta 1% method enables to 
effectively measure the impact of interest rate changes to Assets exposed to interest rate risk and Liabilities exposed to 

interest rate risk. Delta 1% should be kept within the limit set by the Management Board. 

SEB also uses NII sensitivity metrics to reflect change in the net interest rate due to the change of interest rates. For 2019 

NII sensitivity was defined as change in value of annual Net Interest Income per 200 bps parallel shift of interest rates. 
NII sensitivity metrics methodology remains under development by SEB. SEB does not have a limit on NII sensitivity, but 

instead a risk tolerance measure relative to REA is established by the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board. 

 Daily management of interest rate risk is the responsibility of the Treasury department, and measuring and analysing that 

of the Risk department. 

 

Interest rate sensitivity   31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

Net effect on the economic value of equity (delta 1%)   -9.0  -5.1 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2.  Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.4.  Market risk (continued) 

2.4.2.  Interest rate risk (continued) 

The  Group NetDelta 1% has been negative which means that the average duration of Assets exposed to interest rate risk 
is higher than average duration of Liabilities exposed to interest rate risk and the Group is more exposed to interest rate 

increase. The biggest contributors to the Delta 1% figure are loans from the asset side and deposits and funding from the 

parent company from the liabilities side which balance the mismatch from loans. Further information on interest rate 

sensitivity can be found through table below “Exposure to interest rate risk by interest fixation period”. It includes the 
Group’s financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity 

date. 

Exposure to interest rate risk by interest fixation period 

 
31/12/2019 

 Within 
1 month 

1-3   
months 

3-6  
months 

6-12 
months 

1-5    
years 

Over 
5 years 

Non-
interest 
bearing Total 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Financial assets         
Cash and balances with central bank 563.3 - - - - - 39.0 602.3 
Receivables from credit institutions 38.3 0.9 - 0.4 - - - 39.6 

Loans to the public 784.6 1,006.3 635.6 414.4 188.4 1.8 -3.0 3,028.1 
Debt securities - 16.3 20.5 1.0 111.8 - 1.0 150.6 
Derivatives 0.7 1.3 4.7 - 38.0 - - 44.7 

Equity instruments - - - - - - 8.5 8.5 
Other financial assets - - - - - - 42.3 42.3 

Total financial assets 1,386.9 1,024.8 660.8 415.8 338.2 1.8 87.8 3,916.1 

         
Financial liabilities          
Deposits from central banks and credit 

institutions 37.3 51.0 31.4 112.8 94.7 - 0.4 327.6 
Deposits and borrowings from the public 2,627.1 403.3 3.2 54.1 0.1 - 1.4 3,089.2 
Derivatives 1.3 1.9 4.5 - 38.2 - - 45.9 

Other financial liabilities - - - - - - 10.4 10.4 

Total financial liabilities 2,665.7 456.2 39.1 166.9 133.0 - 12.2 3,473.1 

         
Total interest repricing gap of on-
balance sheet position -1,278.8 568.6 621.7 248.9 205.2 1.8 75.6 443.0 

         
Derivative assets 186.3 119.7 93.1 35.6 374.9 56.2 - 865.8 
Derivative liabilities 148.9 47.5 111.1 35.6 466.7 56.2 - 866.0 

         

Total interest repricing gap -1,241.4 640.8 603.7 248.9 113.4 1.8 75.6 442.8 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2.  Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.4.  Market risk (continued) 

2.4.2.  Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
31/12/2018 

 Within 
1 month 

1-3   
months 

3-6  
months 

6-12 
months 

1-5    
years 

Over 
5 years 

Non-
interest 
bearing Total 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Financial assets         
Cash and balances with central bank 315.8 - - - - - 34.3 350.1 
Receivables from credit institutions 57.6 0.8 - - - - 0.1 58.5 

Loans to the public 843.3 941.2 585.5 373.8 215.2 1.4 -2.5 2,957.9 
Debt securities - 107.2 25.6 15.7 105.5 - 0.9 254.9 
Derivatives 0.8 1.2 3.4 - 28.6 - - 34.0 

Equity instruments - - - - - - 5.9 5.9 
Other financial assets - - - - - - 29.7 29.7 

Total financial assets 1,217.5 1,050.4 614.5 389.5 349.3 1.4 68.4 3,691.0 

         
Financial liabilities          
Deposits from central banks and credit 

institutions 

35.5 36.0 111.4 72.9 290.5 - 0.4 546.7 

Deposits and borrowings from the public 2,219.9 386.3 81.9 5.1 0.1 - 1.2 2,694.5 
Derivatives 0.9 1.4 3.5 - 28.3 - - 34.1 

Other financial liabilities - - - - - - 43.5 43.5 

Total financial liabilities 2,256.3 423.7 196.8 78.0 318.9 - 45.1 3,318.8 

         
Total interest repricing gap of on-
balance sheet position 

-1,038.8 626.7 417.7 311.5 30.4 1.4 23.3 372.2 

         
Derivative assets 204.5 175.8 96.1 7.8 411.1 75.8 - 971.1 
Derivative liabilities 107.3 150.9 113.4 7.8 515.7 75.8 - 970.9 

         

Total interest repricing gap -941.6 651.6 400.4 311.5 -74.2 1.4 23.3 372.4 

         

2.4.3. Equity price risk 

The Group and the Bank does not have equities in Trading book. The reported VaR exposure in equities banking Book 

Position in strategic investments.    

2.5. Operational risk 

Definition 

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems (e.g., 

breakdown of IT systems, mistakes, fraud, other deficiencies in internal control) or from external events (natural 

disasters, external crime, etc.). The definition includes conduct, compliance, legal and financial reporting, information-, 
cyber- and physical security, and venture execution risk, but excludes strategic and reputational risk. 

Risk management 

Operational risk is inherent in all of the Group’s operations and the responsibility to manage operational risks rests with all 

managers throughout the bank. The Group aims to maintain a sound risk culture with low operational risk and loss level 
through an effective internal control environment by ensuring a structured and consistent usage of risk mitigating tools 

and processes.  

All new or changed products, processes and/or systems as well as reorganisations are evaluated in a group-common New 

Product Approval Process (NPAP). The aim is to identify potential operational risks and ensure that proactive measures 
are taken to protect the Group from entering into unintended risk-taking that cannot be immediately managed by the 

organisation. The process is also used for yearly reviews of significant outsourcing arrangements in the Group. 

All business units with significant risk embedded in their operations shall regularly complete Risk and Control Self-

Assessments (RCSA) according to a group-wide methodology. The assessments are designed to identify and mitigate 
significant operational risks embedded in the Group’s various business and support processes. There is comprehensive 

participation by each business unit throughout the organisation. The RCSA framework is used to analyse the Group’s 

operational risk profile and help achieve operational excellence and high performance. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2.  Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.5.  Operational  risk (continued) 

The Group ensures that the organisation is prepared to respond to and operate throughout a period of major disruption by 

identifying critical activities and maintaining updated and tested business continuity plans in a group-wide system for this 
purpose. 

All employees are required to escalate and register risk-related events or incidents so that risks can be properly identified, 

assessed, monitored, mitigated and reported. The Group uses a group-wide IT application to capture risk events and other 

operational risk data for analysis. 

The Group conducts regular training and education in key areas, including mandatory training for all staff in general 

operational risk, information security, fraud prevention, anti-money laundering, know-your-customer procedures, GDPR 

and SEB’s Code of Business Conduct. The Group also has a formal whistle-blower procedure that encourages employees 

to report improprieties and unethical or illegal conduct. 

The Group’s approach to meet cyber and other security threats is to prioritise technical protection, raise awareness and 

continuously enhance the cyber risk culture among both employees and customers. Necessary security updates, system 

upgrades, and implementation of new features and secure measurements are performed on a regular basis. The Group 

continuously work to enhance and improve its already well established processes for mitigating, evaluating and following 
up on existing and future cyber risks. 

The risk department is responsible for measuring and reporting The Group’s operational risks. Significant incidents and the 

risk level are analysed and reported on a quarterly basis to the ALCO and on a quarterly basis to the Management Board 

and the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board. In 2019, the total operational losses from operational incidents 
amounted to 1.9 million euros (2018: 0.6 million euros) - for further details see section Governance principles in 

Statement of the Management of the Bank. 

Risk measurement 

The Group uses the Advanced Measurement Approach (AMA) to calculate the regulatory capital requirement for 
operational risk.  

Regulatory supervision 

SEB is subject to various legal requirements. Over the past years, the rules and regulations of the financial industry have 

expanded and further sharpened and the regulators have increased their supervision. This is a development, which is 
expected to continue to evolve. Supervisory authorities regularly conduct reviews of SEB’s regulatory compliance, 

including areas such as financial stability, market conduct related activities, anti-money laundering and terrorist financing, 

international sanctions and data privacy. SEB has policies and procedures in place with the purpose to always comply with 

applicable rules and regulations. It cannot, however, be ruled out that current and future supervisory reviews could lead 
to criticism or sanctions. 

In December 2019 the Bank and the Latvian Financial Supervisory Authority agreed to conclude a supervisory review and 

SEB paid the administrative fee regarding SEB Latvia’s implementation of the Anti-Money Laundering legal framework and 

EU sanction list. 

2.6. Business risk 

Definition 

Business risk is the risk of lower revenues due to reduced volumes, price pressure or competition. Business risk includes 

venture decision risk (related to undertakings such as acquisitions, large IT projects, transformations, outsourcing, etc.). 
Strategic risk is close in nature to business risk, but focuses on large-scale or structural risk factors. Reputational risk is 

the risk arising from negative perception of the Group or the industry in general. 

Risk management 

Business, strategic and reputational risks are inherent in doing business. Digitalisation of the banking industry is 
accelerating and new types of competitors are emerging. The extensive new regulatory framework for banking and 

financial institutions is significantly impacting the industry. Corporate sustainability plays an increasingly important part 

of a company’s reputation. The Group continuously works to mitigate business, strategic and reputational risks in many 

ways, for example, with regular strategic business reviews, proactive cost management, an agile step-by-step IT 
development approach, an ambitious corporate sustainability agenda and active dialogues on regulatory matters. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2.  Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.7. Capital adequacy and capital management 

Group’s and Bank’s capital adequacy target, capital allocation and return on allocated capital are risk-based measures 

built on an assessment of all identified risks incurred in the operations. Capital management is forward-looking and aligned 
with short-term and long-term business plans and the macroeconomic environment. Management of the Bank uses an 

internal model to calculate how much capital is necessary to cover its risks (so called Economic Capital). Stress testing is 

an important parameter when assessing capital adequacy and setting capital targets. This is evaluated in the annual 

internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP).  

As part of the capital planning, the Group maintains a recovery plan which assesses possible capital contingency measures 

and outlines governance in the event of a stressed capital situation.  

Capital management ensures that capital is used where it can generate the best risk-adjusted returns. The management 

of the Bank uses an internal capital allocation framework (business equity) that allocates the capital needed based on the 
risks taken by the business units. 

Capital adequacy refers to the sufficiency of the Group’s capital resources to cover credit risks, operational and market 

risks arising from the portfolio of assets of the Group and the exposure from commitments and contingent liabilities of the 

Group. 

The Group’s capital adequacy ratios are being calculated in accordance with Basel III (CRR 575/2013) requirements. 

In accordance with the Basel III requirements, the Group’s and the Bank’s risk based capital adequacy ratios as at 31 

December 2019 were 17.33% (2018: 17.54%) and 17.98% (2018: 18.74%) respectively which is above the minimum 

required to maintain a capital adequacy ratio of 8% of risk weighted assets and commitments and contingent liabilities 
(See Notes 28 and 34.5). 

3. Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities 

The objective of the fair value measurement is to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place 

between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. 

The group has an established control environment for the determination of fair values of financial instruments that 

includes a review, independent from the business, of valuation models and prices. If the validation principles are not 

adhered to, exceptions of material and principal importance require approval from respective decision making bodies. 

In order to arrive at the fair value of a financial instrument the Group uses different methods; quoted prices in active 
markets, valuation techniques incorporating observable data and valuation techniques based on internal models. For 

disclosure purposes, financial instruments carried at fair value are classified in a fair value hierarchy according to the level 

of market observability of the inputs. Risk control function classifies and continuously reviews the classification of financial 

instruments in the fair value hierarchy.  

An active market is one in which transactions occur with sufficient volume and frequency to provide pricing information 

on an ongoing basis. The objective is to arrive at a price at which a transaction without modification or repackaging would 

occur in the principal market for the instrument to which the Group has immediate access. 

Fair value is generally measured for individual financial instruments, in addition portfolio adjustments are made to cover 
the credit risk. To reflect counterparty risk and own credit risk in OTC derivatives, adjustments are made based on the net 

exposure towards each counterpart. These adjustments are calculated on a counterparty level based on estimates of 

exposure at default, probability of default and recovery rates. Probability of default and recovery rate information is 

generally sourced from the CDS markets. For counterparties where this information is not available, or considered 
unreliable due to the nature of the exposure, alternative approaches are taken where the probability of default is based 

on generic credit indices for specific industry and/or rating.  

When valuing financial liabilities at fair value own credit standing is reflected. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

3.  Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities (continued) 

Level 1: Quoted market prices 

Valuations in Level 1 are determined by reference to unadjusted quoted market prices for identical instruments in active 

markets where the quoted prices are readily available and the prices represent actual and regularly occurring market 
transactions on an arm’s length basis. 

Examples of Level 1 financial instruments are listed equity securities, debt securities, and exchange-traded derivatives. 

Instruments traded in an active market for which one or more market participants provide a binding price quotation on the 

balance sheet date are also examples of Level 1 financial instruments. 

Level 2: Valuation techniques with observable inputs 

In Level 2 valuation techniques, all significant inputs to the valuation models are observable either directly or indirectly. 

Level 2 valuation techniques include using discounted cash flows, option pricing models, recent transactions and the price 

of another instrument that is substantially the same. 

Examples of observable inputs are foreign currency exchange rates, binding securities price quotations, market interest 

rates (LIBOR, etc.), volatilities implied from observable option prices for the same term and actual transactions with one 

or more external counterparts executed by the Group. An input can transfer from being observable to being unobservable 

during the holding period due to e.g. illiquidity of the instrument. Examples of Level 2 financial instruments are most OTC 
derivatives such as options and interest rate swaps based on the LIBOR swap rate or a foreign-denominated yield curve. 

Level 3: Valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs 

Level 3 valuation techniques incorporate significant inputs that are unobservable. These techniques are generally based 

on extrapolating from observable inputs for similar instruments, analysing historical data or other analytical techniques. 
Examples of Level 3 financial instruments are more complex OTC derivatives, long dated options for which the volatility is 

extrapolated or derivatives that depend on an unobservable correlation. Other examples are instruments for which there 

is currently no active market or binding quotes, such as unlisted equity instruments and private equity holdings. 

If the fair value of financial instruments includes more than one unobservable input, the unobservable inputs are 
aggregated in order to determine the classification of the entire instrument. The level in the fair value hierarchy within 

which a financial instrument is classified is determined on the basis of the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 

value in its entirety. 

The table below summarises the hierarchy of fair value measurement of asset and liabilities presented on the Group’s 
statement of financial position at fair value:  

 

 Quoted price in active 

markets 

Valuation techniques 

using observable inputs 

Valuation techniques using 

non-observable inputs 

 

 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total 

31/12/2019 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Assets     

Debt securities 150.6   150.6 

Derivatives  44.7  44.7 

Equity instruments   8.5 8.5 

         

Total 150.6 44.7 8.5 203.8 

Liabilities     

Derivatives  45.9  45.9 
         

Total   45.9   45.9 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

3.  Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities (continued) 

The table below allocates the Group’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2018:  

 

 Quoted price in active 
markets 

Valuation techniques 
using observable inputs 

Valuation techniques using 
non-observable inputs 

 

 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total 

31/12/2018 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Assets     

Debt securities 254.9   254.9 

Derivatives  34.0  34.0 

Equity instruments   5.9 5.9 
     

Total 254.9 34.0 5.9 294.8 

Liabilities    
 

Derivatives  34.1  34.1 

     

Total  34.1  34.1 

     

Transfers between levels may occur when there are indications that market conditions have changed, e.g. a change in 

liquidity. There have been no transfers between levels during the years 2019 and 2018. 

Fair value of investments 

Fair values for investments listed in an active market are based on quoted market prices. If the market for a financial 
instrument is not active, fair value is established by using valuation techniques based on discounted cash flow analysis, 

net asset value, valuation with reference to financial instruments that is substantially the same, and valuation with 

reference to observable market transactions in the same financial instrument. 

If the net present value of estimated cash flows differs by +/-5% while other factors are unchanged the change in fair 
value of the material level 3 instruments for the  Group would be estimated higher or lower by EUR 0.5 million  (2018: 

EUR 0.3 million).  

The table below represents the changes of the Group’s Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 

2018: 

 

 Equity instruments 

Balance as of 1 January 2018 3.5 

Purchases  
Sales  

Gains (losses) in income statement - unrealised 2.4 

Gains (losses) in income statement - realised  

Exchange differences   

Balance as of 31 December 2018 5.9 

  

Balance as of 1 January 2019 5.9 

Purchases  

Sales  

Gains (losses) in income statement - unrealised 2.6 

Gains (losses) in income statement - realised  

Exchange differences   

Balance as of 31 December 2019 8.5 

 

Unrealised gain on equity instruments recognized in the income statement is presented within ‘Net financial income’ line.  
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3.  Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities (continued) 

The table below summarizes the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities presented on the 

Group’s statement of financial position at amortized cost:  

 
 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

EUR mil. Book Value Fair Value  Book Value Fair Value 

      
Balances with the Central Bank              602.3  602.4               350.1  350.1 
Loans and advances to banks                  39.6  39.6                   58.5  58.4 

Loans to the public          3,028.1  2914.8           2,957.9  2879.9 
   General governments                  55.1  54.5                   41.7  40.9 
   Other financial corporations                     9.1  9.1                   11.4  11.4 

   Non-financial institutions          1,892.8  1862.6           1,896.7  1895.1 
   Households          1,071.1  988.6           1,008.1  932.5 

Total financial assets valued at amortized cost         3,670.0          3,556.8           3,366.5          3,288.4  

      

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions              327.6               328.8                546.7               548.1  

Current and demand deposits         3,002.8           3,003.4           2,598.3           2,598.3  

Term deposits from the public                  86.4                   86.4                    96.2                   96.2  

Total financial liabilities valued at amortized cost         3,416.8          3,418.6           3,241.2          3,242.6  

 The Group conducts assessment of fair value of financial assets and liabilities which are not presented in the Group’s 

statement of financial position at their fair value. All financial instruments not measured at fair value are specified at Level 

3 in hierarchy of valuation of fair value, because of using unobservable inputs. 

When calculating fair value for floating interest rate loans and for fixed-interest rate lending, future cash flows are 

discounted based on the market interest curve, which has been adjusted for applicable margins of new lending. Fixed-

interest rate deposits, floating interest rate and fixed-interest rate balances due to credit institutions, have been 

calculated similarly. 

4. Interest income and expense 

 

 2019  2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
Interest income    

Interest on balances due from credit institutions 0.5  0.3 

Interest on loans and advances to non-banking customers 71.1  66.3 

Interest on Treasury bills and other fixed income securities 0.4  0.3 
Negative interest rate income 0.8  0.6 

Total interest income 72.8  67.5 

    

Interest expense    
Interest on balances due to credit institutions -0.9  -0.9 

Interest on deposits due to customers -0.7  -0.5 

Contributions paid to the Deposit Guarantee Fund -3.5  -3.1 

Contributions paid to the Single Resolution Fund -0.7  -0.5 
Negative interest rate expenses  -1.9  -1.5 

Other interest expense -1.2  -1.4 

Total interest expense -8.9  -7.9 

    

Net interest income 63.9  59.6 
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5. Fee and commission income and expense 

 

 2019  2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
Fee and commission income    

Payment transfer fees 4.3  4.8 

Commission income from lending operations*  2.6  2.8 

Fees for account service 14.6  12.4 
Commissions on cash operations 0.5  0.7 

Commissions on transactions with settlement cards  23.2  21.5 

Commissions on financial instruments 0.3  0.2 

Commissions on guarantees 1.2  1.2 
Commissions on asset management 4.9  5.8 

Other fee and commission income 3.5  4.3 

Total fee and commission income 55.1  53.7 

    
Fee and commission expense    

Correspondent bank service charges -0.3  -0.2 

Commissions on settlement cards -9.8  -12.7 

Commissions on securities -1.6  -1.6 
Commissions on cash transactions -1.2  -0.8 

Commission expense from lending operations* -0.8  -0.5 

Other fee and commission expense -3.7  -1.7 

Total fee and commission expense -17.4  -17.5 

    

Net fee and commission income 37.7  36.2 

 

 

* Lending operations include income and expense in relation to loan, leasing, letter of credit and guarantee contracts, 
which are short-term and do not constitute interest income or expense, but are of administrative nature for arrangement 

or reorganisation of credits. 

6. Net financial income 

 
Net gains from transactions with financial instruments represents the profit or loss from trading activities, changes in fair 

value and revaluation of foreign currency positions excluding net interest income or expense and fees and commissions 

incurred in respect of those transactions. 

 
 2019  2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

Net gain from sale of securities and equity instruments    
Equity instruments 2.5  2.2 

 2.5  2.2 

    

Net gain / (loss) from revaluation of securities and equity 

instruments    
Securities at fair value through profit or loss 1.0  -0.2 

    

Net gain from currency exchange  3.6  3.3 

Net gain / (loss) from revaluation of foreign currency positions -1.5  -1.9 
Net (loss) / gain from financial derivatives 3.1  3.9 

    

Net financial income 8.7  7.3 
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7. Other operating income  

 

 2019  2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
    

Net gain / (loss) from repossessed collateral *    

Income / (loss ) from disposal of repossessed collateral -  -0.3 

Improvement / (impairment) of repossessed collateral -  0.1 

 -  -0.2 

    

Net other operating income    

Rental income under operating leases 0.3              0.3   
Income from sale of services to related companies 1.2              1.6    

Other operating income 1.4              1.8    

Pension fund members’ earnings -0.1                   -     

Professional services for the primary activities -0.2  - 0.2    

- 2.6  3.5 

Other operating income 2.6  3.3 

 

* The Group has obtained assets by taking possession of assets held as collateral. Repossessed collateral include buildings 

and land plots and are classified in the balance sheet within “Investment Property”. 

8. Personnel expense 

 

Remuneration and related social security expense includes remuneration to the Board of Directors and other personnel of 

the Group as well as related social security payments and other benefits. 

 2019  2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    
Remuneration to the Board of Directors 0.7  0.5 

Remuneration to other personnel 20.1  20.0 

Social security contributions 5.0  4.7 

 Payments to defined contribution plan 0.5  0.4 

Total remuneration and related social security expense 26.3  25.6 

 

The average number of personnel employed by the Group and Bank during the respective year is specified as follows: 

 

 2019  2018 

    

Members of the Board of Directors 6  4 

Other managing personnel 84  98 
Staff  828  835 

Total number of personnel employed 918  937 

 

 
The total number of personnel employed by the Group as at 31 December 2019 was 918 (937). 
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9. Other expenses  

 

 2019  2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
    

Rent expense 1.0  4.6 

Communication expense 1.0  1.0 

Office expense 1.3  1.6 
Sponsorship and marketing 1.6  1.6 

Transportation costs 0.4  0.5 

Training and other staff costs  1.3  1.3 

Consulting and professional fees 8.4  6.9 
Insurance 1.7  1.9 

Security costs 0.3  0.3 

IT maintenance and development expenses 3.3  3.1 

Utilities, repairs etc. 2.9  0.8 

Total administrative expenses 23.2  23.6 

 

Rent and maintenance expenses have reduced because of adoption of IFRS 16 Leases, see Note 1.23.1.1. 

10. Net expected credit losses 

Net ECL level is calculated as Net credit impairments in relation to the opening balance of the year of loans to the public 

and loans to credit institutions measured at amortised cost, financial guarantees and loan commitments, net of ECL 

allowances. 

 
  

 2019  2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    
Impairment gains or losses - Stage 1 -  -0.5 

Impairment gains or losses - Stage 2 0.4  -0.7 

Impairment gains or losses - Stage 3 -5.4  -0.8 

Impairment gains or losses (IFRS 9)  -5.0  -2.0 
    

Write-offs and recoveries    

Total write-offs -13.8  -16.0 

Reversals of allowances for write-offs 10.8  12.1 

Write-offs previously not provided for -3.0  -3.9 
    

Recoveries from previous write-offs 2.7  2.1 

Net write-offs -0.3  -1.8 

    

Net expected credit losses  -5.3  -3.8 

Net ECL level, % 0.17  0.13 
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11. Income tax expenses  

 

Income tax expenses comprise the following items: 

 2019  2018 
 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

Current tax expense -  - 

Previous years’ correction -  - 
Change in deferred income tax 1.2  0.7 

Total income taxes 1.2  0.7 

 

The Group has recognised deferred tax liabilities from profit earned by subsidiaries SIA SEB līzings un IPAS “SEB 
Investment Management” starting from 2018. The tax will become payable when dividends are distributed. 

Utilization of deferred tax liabilities  

 2019  2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
    

utilized within 12 month -  - 

utilized after more than 12 months 2.0  0.7 

Total income taxes 2.0  0.7 

12. Cash and balances with central bank  

 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
    

Cash 39.0  34.3 

Correspondent account with the Bank of Latvia 563.3  315.8 

      of which mandatory reserve requirement 31.3  28.0 

Total cash and deposits with the Bank of Latvia 602.3  350.1 

 

The correspondent account with the Bank of Latvia reflects the balance of the Bank's correspondent account on which 

interest is paid in the amount of the compulsory reserve requirement.  

The Bank is required to comply with minimum reserve requirements set by the Bank of Latvia. This requires the Bank’s 

monthly average EUR balance on its correspondent account with the Bank of Latvia to exceed a specified minimum during 

the maintenance period of requirements.  

The Bank was in compliance with the reserve requirement during the reporting period and during the previous period. 
 

13. Loans to credit institutions 

 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
    

Loans (Note 14) 1.8  1 

Current accounts 37.8  57.5 

 Total loans to credit institutions 39.6  58.5 
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14. Loans to credit institutions and the public 

 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    
General governments                 55.1   41.7 

Credit institutions                 39.6   58.5 

Other financial corporations                     9.1   11.4 

Non-financial corporations         1,892.8   1,896.7 
Households         1,071.1   1,008.1 

 Total loans to credit institutions and the public 3,067.7   3,016.4 

 
Distribution of Loans to public and credit institutions by remaining maturity is presented below: 

 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

    

After 12 month         2,621.0           2,523.3  

Less than 12 month              446.7                493.1  

 Total         3,067.7           3,016.4  

 

Loans to public and credit institutions balance include also finance lease receivables (see Note 19).
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14.  Loans to credit institutions and the public (continued) 

The table below shows gross carrying amounts for exposures on balance measured at amortised cost and nominal amounts for exposures off-balance divided by stage as a mean to put ECL allowances in 
context to total exposure. 
(millions of EUR)  Gross carrying amounts/ Nominal amounts  ECL allowances  Carrying amounts/ Net amounts 

Balance as at 31 December 2019  Stage 1 (12 

month ECL) 

Stage 2 

(lifetime 

ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total  Stage 1 (12 

month ECL) 

Stage 2 

(lifetime ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total  Stage 1 (12 

month ECL) 

Stage 2 

(lifetime ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total 

Loans to public and credit institutions                

General governments  55.1 - - 55.1  - - - -  55.1 - - 55.1 

Credit institutions  39.6 - - 39.6  - - - -  39.6 - - 39.6 

Other financial corporations  9.1 - - 9.1  - - - -  9.1 - - 9.1 

Non-financial corporations  1,719.7 131.6 63.7 1,915.0  -0.8 -4.5 -16.9 -22.2  1,718.9 127.1 46.8 1,892.8 

Households  994.7 64.0 25.2 1,083.9  -0.9 -1.0 -10.9 -12.8  993.8 63.0 14.3 1,071.1 

                

Total  2,818.2 195.6 88.9 3,102.7  -1.7 -5.5 -27.8 -35.0  2,816.5 190.1 61.1 3,067.7 

                
Financial guarantees and loan commitments                

Central banks  0.1 - - 0.1  - - - -  0.1 - - 0.1 

General governments  2.2 - - 2.2  - - - -  2.2 - - 2.2 

Credit institutions  42.2 0.1 - 42.3  - - - -  42.2 0.1 - 42.3 

Other financial corporations  55.7 - - 55.7  - - - -  55.7 - - 55.7 

Non-financial corporations  441.5 13.6 2.8 457.9  -0.1 -0.1 -0.2 -0.4  441.4 13.5 2.6 457.5 

Households  77.1 0.9 0.2 78.2  -0.2 - - -0.2  76.9 0.9 0.2 78.0 

                

Total  618.8 14.6 3.0 636.4  -0.3 -0.1 -0.2 -0.6  618.5 14.5 2.8 635.8 

                

Total Loans to public and credit institutions and 
Financial guarantees and loan commitments 

               

Central banks  0.1 - - 0.1  - - - -  0.1 - - 0.1 

General governments  57.3 - - 57.3  - - - -  57.3 - - 57.3 

Credit institutions  81.8 0.1 - 81.9  - - - -  81.8 0.1 - 81.9 

Other financial corporations  64.8 - - 64.8  - - - -  64.8 - - 64.8 

Non-financial corporations  2,161.2 145.2 66.5 2,372.9  -0.9 -4.6 -17.1 -22.6  2,160.3 140.6 49.4 2,350.3 

Households  1,071.8 64.9 25.4 1,162.1  -1.1 -1.0 -10.9 -13.0  1,070.7 63.9 14.5 1,149.1 

                

Total  3,437.0 210.2 91.9 3,739.1  -2.0 -5.6 -28.0 -35.6  3,435.0 204.6 63.9 3,703.5 

                

ECL coverage ratio       0.06 2.82 30.47 0.95      
Share of total ECL allowances       6% 16% 79%       
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14.  Loans to credit institutions and the public (continued) 

 
(millions of EUR)  Gross carrying amounts/ Nominal amounts  ECL allowances  Carrying amounts/ Net amounts 
Balance as at 31 December 2018  Stage 1 (12 

month ECL) 

Stage 2 

(lifetime 

ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total  Stage 1 (12 

month ECL) 

Stage 2 

(lifetime ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total  Stage 1 (12 

month ECL) 

Stage 2 

(lifetime ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total 

Loans to public and credit institutions                
General governments  41.7 - - 41.7  - - - -  41.7 - - 41.7 

Credit institutions  58.4 0.1 - 58.5  - - - -  58.4 0.1 - 58.5 

Other financial corporations  11.2 0.1 - 11.3  - - - -  11.2 0.1 - 11.3 

Non-financial corporations  1,731.6 155.9 32.8 1,920.3  -0.8 -4.7 -18.1 -23.6  1,730.8 151.2 14.7 1,896.7 

Households  918.0 74.0 33.1 1,025.1  -0.8 -1.2 -15.0 -17.0  917.2 72.8 18.1 1,008.1 

                

Total  2,760.9 230.1 65.9 3,056.9  -1.6 -5.9 -33.1 -40.6  2,759.3 224.2 32.8 3,016.3 

                

Financial guarantees and loan commitments                

Central banks  0.1 - - 0.1  - - - -  0.1 - - 0.1 

General governments  9.6 - - 9.6  - - - -  9.6 - - 9.6 

Credit institutions  32.6 - - 32.6  - - - -  32.6 - - 32.6 

Other financial corporations  101.5 - - 101.5  - - - -  101.5 - - 101.5 
Non-financial corporations  559.0 12.9 2.3 574.2  -0.1 -0.1 -0.2 -0.4  558.9 12.8 2.1 573.8 

Households  80.3 1.0 0.1 81.4  -0.1 - - -0.1  80.2 1.0 0.1 81.3 

                

Total  783.1 13.9 2.4 799.4  -0.2 -0.1 -0.2 -0.5  782.9 13.8 2.2 798.9 

                

Total Loans to public and credit institutions and 

Financial guarantees and loan commitments 

               

Central banks  0.1 - - 0.1  - - - -  0.1 - - 0.1 

General governments  51.3 - - 51.3  - - - -  51.3 - - 51.3 

Credit institutions  91.0 0.1 - 91.1  - - - -  91.0 0.1 - 91.1 

Other financial corporations  112.7 0.1 - 112.8  - - - -  112.7 0.1 - 112.8 
Non-financial corporations  2,290.6 168.8 35.1 2,494.5  -0.9 -4.8 -18.3 -24.0  2,289.7 164.0 16.8 2,470.5 

Households  998.3 75.0 33.2 1,106.5  -0.9 -1.2 -15.0 -17.1  997.4 73.8 18.2 1,089.4 

                

Total  3,544.0 244.0 68.3 3,856.3  -1.8 -6.0 -33.3 -41.1  3,542.2 238.0 35.0 3,815.2 

                

ECL coverage ratio       0.05 2.46 48.76 1.07      

Share of total ECL allowances       4% 15% 81%       
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14.  Loans to credit institutions and the public (continued) 

Table below shows Group’s and Bank’s movements of allowance accounts for on balance exposures and off balance 

exposures. 

During the year 2019 there were no significant changes in gross carrying amounts of loans to public, which contributed 
significantly to changes in the loss allowance. Changes in the loss allowance were mainly affected by the changes of expert 

credit judgement adjustments for credit-impaired loans in amount of EUR 5 million. 

 
(millions of EUR) 
31/12/2019 

 
Stage 1 (12-

month ECL)  

Stage2 (lifetime 

ECL)  

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL)  Total 

Non-financial corporations         

ECL allowance as of 1 January 2019  0.8  4.6  18.1  23.5 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.3  -  -0.1  0.2 
Changes due to change in credit risk  -0.4  -0.2  6.0  5.4 

Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs 

 
- 

 
- 

 
-7.2 

 
-7.2 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  0.3  0.3 

Total  0.7  4.4  17.1  22.2 
         
Households         

ECL allowance as of 1 January 2019  0.8  1.2  15.0  17.0 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.4  -0.1  -0.6  -0.3 
Changes due to change in credit risk  -0.3  -0.1  0.1  -0.3 

Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs 

 
- 

 
- 

 
-3.6 

 
-3.6 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  -  - 

Total  0.9  1.0  10.9  12.8 
         

Total loans         
ECL allowance as of 1 January 2019  1.6  5.8  33.1  40.5 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.7  -0.1  -0.7  -0.1 

Changes due to change in credit risk  -0.7  -0.3  6.1  5.1 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs 

 
- 

 
- 

 
-10.8 

 
-10.8 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  0.3  0.3 

Total  1.6  5.4  28.0  35.0 
         

Financial guarantees and loan 
commitments 

        

ECL allowance as of 1 January 2019  0.3  0.1  0.2  0.6 

New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.1  -  -0.1  - 
Changes due to change in credit risk  -0.1  -  0.1  - 

Total  0.3  0.1  0.2  0.6 
         
Total loans and financial guarantees and 

loan commitments 

        

ECL allowance as of 1 January 2019  1.9  5.9  33.3  41.1 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.8  -0.1  -0.8  -0.1 

Changes due to change in credit risk  -0.8  -0.3  6.2  5.1 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs 

 
- 

 
- 

 
-10.8 

 
-10.8 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  0.3  0.3 

Total  1.9  5.5  28.2  35.6 
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14.  Loans to credit institutions and the public (continued) 

 
(millions of EUR) 

31/12/2018 

 

Stage 1 (12-
month ECL)  

Stage2 (lifetime 
ECL)  

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/ 
lifetime ECL)  Total 

Non-financial corporations         
ECL allowance as of 1 January 2019  0.5  2.2  22.1  24.8 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.4  -0.1  -1.8  -1.5 

Changes due to change in credit risk  -  2.6  3.6  6.2 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs 

 
- 

 
- 

 
-6.3 

 
-6.3 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  0.4  0.4 

Total  0.9  4.7  18.0  23.6 
         

Households         
ECL allowance as of 1 January 2019  0.5  2.9  21.2  24.6 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.3  -0.1  -0.5  -0.3 

Changes due to change in credit risk  -  -1.6  0.1  -1.5 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs 

 
- 

 
- 

 
-5.9 

 
-5.9 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  -  - 

Total  0.8  1.2  14.9  16.9 

         
Total loans         
ECL allowance as of 1 January 2019  1.0  5.1  43.3  49.4 

New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.7  -0.2  -2.3  -1.8 
Changes due to change in credit risk  -  1.0  3.7  4.7 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-

offs 

 
- 

 
- 

 
-12.2 

 
-12.2 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  0.4  0.4 

Total  1.7  5.9  32.9  40.5 

         
Financial guarantees and loan 
commitments 

        

ECL allowance as of 1 January 2019  -0.4  -0.2  -0.9  -1.5 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  -0.3  0.1  0.1  -0.1 
Changes due to change in credit risk  0.3  0.1  0.6  1.0 

Total  -0.4  0.0  -0.2  -0.6 
         

Total loans and financial guarantees and 
loan commitments 

        

ECL allowance as of 1 January 2019  1.4  5.3  44.2  50.9 

New and derecognised financial assets, net  1.0  -0.3  -2.4  -1.7 
Changes due to change in credit risk  -0.3  0.9  3.1  3.7 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-

offs 

 
- 

 
- 

 
-12.2 

 
-12.2 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  0.4  0.4 

Total  2.1  5.9  33.1  41.1 
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14.  Loans to credit institutions and the public (continued) 

 

The table below shows Group’s and Bank’s gross carrying amounts and ECL allowances for credit-impaired loans divided 

by stage 3 and the fair value of collaterals for these assets. 
 

Stage 3 (credit impaired/ lifetime ECL) Gross carrying 

amounts 

 ECL 

allowances 

 Carrying 

amount  

 Fair value of 

collateral 

held 
31/12/2019 EUR mil.  EUR mil.  EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

        

Non-financial corporations                        66.5   -17.1  49.4  40.7 

Households                        25.4   -10.9  14.5  13.5 

 
                       

91.9   
-28.0  

                  
63.9  

                         
54.2  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
Stage 3 (credit impaired/ lifetime ECL) Gross carrying 

amounts 

 ECL 

allowances 

 Carrying 

amount  

 Fair value of 

collateral 

held 

31/12/2018 EUR mil.  EUR mil.  EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
        

Non-financial corporations 35.1  -18.2  16.9  13.9 

Households 33.2  -15.0  18.2  16.7 

 68.3  -33.2  35.1  30.6 

 

The table below shows gross carrying amounts for exposures on balance and nominal amounts for exposures off-balance 

divided by stage and risk classification category. The Group and the Bank did not had exposures on purchased or originated 

credit-impaired financial assets. The risk classification categories are further explained in Note 2.2. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

14.  Loans to credit institutions and the public (continued) 

 
(millions of EUR) 

31/12/2019 
 

Stage 1 (12-

month ECL)  

Stage2 

(lifetime ECL)  

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL)  Total Risk classification category 

         

General governments         

Investment grade  -  -  -  - 

Standard monitoring  55.1  -  -  55.1 
Watch list  -  -  -  - 

Default  -  -  -  - 

Total  55.1  -  -  55.1 

         

Credit institutions         
Investment grade  39.5  -  -  39.5 

Standard monitoring  -  -  -  - 

Watch list  0.1  -  -  0.1 

Default  -  -  -  - 

Total  39.6  -  -  39.6 
         

Other financial corporations         

Investment grade  1.5  -  -  1.5 

Standard monitoring  7.6  -  -  7.6 
Watch list  -  -  -  - 

Default  -  -  -  - 

Total  9.1  -  -  9.1 

         

Non-financial corporations         

Investment grade  621.7  -  -  621.7 
Standard monitoring  1,097.3  81.6  0.1  1,179.0 

Watch list  0.7  49.9  -  50.6 

Default  -  0.1  63.6  63.7 

Total  1,719.7  131.6  63.7  1,915.0 

         
Households         

Investment grade  1.2  -   -   1.2 

Standard monitoring  993.5  63.5  0.2  1,057.2 

Watch list   -  -   -   - 
Default  -  0.5  25.0  25.5 

Total  994.7  64.0  25.2  1,083.9 

         

Financial guarantees and loan 

commitments 

        

Investment grade  267.7  -  -  267.7 

Standard monitoring  350.7  14.0  -  364.7 

Watch list  0.4  0.6  -  1.0 

Default  -  -  3.0  3.0 

Total  618.8  14.6  3.0  636.4 

         
Total by risk classification category         

Investment grade  931.6  -  -  931.6 

Standard monitoring  2,504.2  159.1  0.3  2,663.6 

Watch list  1.2  50.5  -  51.7 
Default  -  0.6  91.6  92.2 

Total  3,437.0  210.2  91.9  3,739.1 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
14.           Loans to credit institutions and the public (continued) 

 
(millions of EUR) 

31/12/2018 
 

Stage 1 (12-
month ECL)  

Stage2 
(lifetime ECL)  

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/ 
lifetime ECL)  Total Risk classification category 

         
General governments         

Investment grade  -  -  -  - 

Standard monitoring  41.7  -  -  41.7 

Watch list  -  -  -  - 
Default  -  -  -  - 

Total  41.7  -  -  41.7 

         

Credit institutions         

Investment grade  58.4  0.1  -  58.5 
Standard monitoring  -  -  -  - 

Watch list  -  -  -  - 

Default  -  -  -  - 

Total  58.4  0.1  -  58.5 

         
Other financial corporations         

Investment grade  4.2  -  -  4.2 

Standard monitoring  7.0  0.1  -  7.1 

Watch list  -  -  -  - 
Default  -  -  -  - 

Total  11.2  0.1  -  11.3 
         

Non-financial corporations         

Investment grade  1,106.0  0.2  -  1,106.2 

Standard monitoring  624.4  92.8  0.2  717.4 
Watch list  1.2  62.6  -  63.8 

Default  -  0.3  32.6  32.9 

Total  1,731.6  155.9  32.8  1,920.3 

         

Households         
Investment grade  2.7  -  -  2.7 

Standard monitoring  915.3  73.8  0.7  989.8 

Watch list  -  -  -  - 

Default  -  0.2  32.4  32.6 

Total  918.0  74.0  33.1  1,025.1 
         

Financial guarantees and loan 

commitments 

        

Investment grade  479.8  -  -  479.8 
Standard monitoring  303.2  11.6  -  314.8 

Watch list  0.1  2.3  -  2.4 

Default  -  -  2.4  2.4 

Total  783.1  13.9  2.4  799.4 

         

Total by risk classification category         
Investment grade  1,651.1  0.3  -  1,651.4 

Standard monitoring  1,891.6  178.3  0.9  2,070.8 

Watch list  1.3  64.9  -  66.2 

Default  -  0.5  67.4  67.9 

Total  3,544.0  244.0  68.3  3,856.3 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

15. Debt securities and equity instruments 

 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    
Debt securities     

Government bonds 150.6  254.9 

Total debt securities 150.6  254.9 

    
Equity instruments     

Equity shares 8.5  5.9 

Total equity instruments 8.5  5.9 

     

Total debt securities and equity instruments 159.1  260.8 

 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018 debt securities portfolio was neither past due nor ECL was material. Maximum exposure 

to credit risk is equal to the carrying amount. 

The following table shows the division of debt securities and equity instruments held by the Group by listed and unlisted 
securities: 

 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 Listed Unlisted Total  Listed Unlisted Total 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil.  EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 
        

Debt securities        

Government bonds        

Latvian government bonds  101.4 - 101.4  204.9 - 204.9 
Lithuanian government bonds 49.2 - 49.2  50.0 - 50.0 

Total debt securities 150.6  150.6  254.9  254.9 

        

Equity instruments        
Equity shares        

In OECD corporate entities - 8.5 8.5  - 5.9 5.9 

Total equity instruments  - 8.5 8.5  - 5.9 5.9 

        

Total debt securities and equity 

instruments  
150.6 8.5 159.1  254.9 5.9 260.8 

 

The following table shows the division of the Group’s debt securities by rating agency designation: 

SEB risk 

classes 

Moody’s  

ratings 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

  EUR mil. EUR mil. 

    

1-4 Aaa to A3 150.6 254.9 

5-7 Baa1 to Baa3 - - 

8-10 Ba1 to Ba3 - - 

11-12 B1 to B2 - - 

13-16 B3 to C - - 

 Total 150.6 254.9 

All debt securities are measured at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss Mandatorily. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

15.           Debt securities and equity instruments (continued) 

Distribution of debt securities by remaining maturity is presented below: 

(millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

    
After 12 month                    112.5                      106.4  

Less than 12 month                        38.1                      148.5  

 Total                    150.6                      254.9  

16. Derivatives 

The Group utilise the following derivative instruments: currency forwards representing commitments to purchase foreign 
and domestic currency, currency and interest rate swaps representing commitments to exchange one set of cash flows 

for another and equity index options. Swaps result in an economic exchange of currencies or interest rates (for example, 

fixed rate for floating rate). 

The Group's credit risk represents the potential cost to replace the forward or swap contracts if counterparties fail to 
perform their obligation. To control the level of credit risk taken the Group assess counterparties using the same 

techniques as for its lending activities. Maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the notional amount of derivative 

instrument. 

At 31 December 2019 derivative financial instruments were not past due. 

The fair value in accordance with internal risk ratings of derivatives for assets is as follows: 

 

Risk class 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    
1 – 7 43.6  31.1 

8 – 12 1.1  2.9 

13 – 16 -  - 

Total 44.7  34.0 

The notional amounts of certain types of financial instruments provide a basis for comparison with instruments recognised 
on the balance sheet but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the current fair value of 

the instruments and, therefore, do not indicate the Group's exposure to credit or price risks. The derivative instruments 

become favourable or unfavourable as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates or foreign exchange rates relative 

to their terms. 

The Group’s notional amounts and fair values of derivative instruments held for trading are set out in the following table: 

 
 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 Contract / 
notional amount 

Fair value  Contract / 
notional amount 

Fair value 

 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities  Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 
 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil.  EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 
          

Derivative financial 
instruments 

         

Currency forwards 4.5 0.6 0.1 -  0.7 3.0 - -0.1 

Currency swaps 25.3 89.1 0.2 -0.5  58.1 13.0 0.2 -0.1 
Interest rate swaps 170.6 264.5 6 -6.9  226.6 361.8 4.7 -4.9 
Cross-currency interest 

rate swaps 
175.4 135.8 38.4 -38.5  172.1 135.8 29.1 -29.0 

            

Total 375.8 490.0 44.7 -45.9  457.5 513.6 34.0 -34.1 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

16.           Derivatives (continued) 

Distribution of derivatives by remaining maturity is presented below: 

(millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 Assets Liabilities  Assets Liabilities 

      
After 12 month           43.1  -44.0     32.9  -32.9  

Less than 12 month               1.6  -1.9        1.1  -1.2  
 Total           44.7  -45.9      34.0  -34.1  

 

17. Intangible assets  

The following is included in the net book value of intangible assets: 
 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

Computer software excluding prepayments 6.1  7.5 

Software development 2.6  1.7 
    

Total intangible assets 8.7  9.2 

Computer software includes a core banking system which was launched to operations in February 2017. The value of the 
system of the Bank as at 31 December 2019 is EUR 5.0 million (at 31 December 2018 EUR 6.0 million) as and its 

estimated useful life is 8 years from the introduction of the system. Software development includes investments related 

to the further development of the mentioned system. 

The following table presents movements in the Group’s net book value of software: 
 2019  2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

Historical cost    

1 January 20.2  20.2 

Additions  0.1  0.1 

Disposals -1.7  -0.1 

31 December  18.6  20.2 
    

Accumulated amortisation    

1 January 12.7  11.3 

Charge for the period 1.5  1.5 
Disposals -1.7  -0.1 

31 December 12.5  12.7 

    

Net book value    

31 December 6.1  7.5 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

18. Property, plant and equipment  

The following are included in the net book value of property, plant and equipment: 

 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 
 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

Leasehold improvements 1.4  1.5 

    
Office equipment:    

   Electronic data processing equipment  3.9  3.8 

   Other office equipment, fixtures and fittings 0.7  0.8 

Total office equipment 4.6  4.6 

    
Assets leased to customers under operating leases 

(transport vehicles) and owned transport vehicles 2.4  2.5 

    

Total property and equipment excluding prepayments 8.4  8.6 
    

Prepayments for property and equipment  0.2  0.2 

    

Total property, plant and equipment at net book value 

including prepayments 8.6  8.8 

 

The following changes in the Group’s property, plant and equipment (including assets leased to customers under operating 
leases) took place during the year ended 31 December 2019: 

 

 

 

 

Leasehold 

improvements 

Transport 

vehicles 

  Office 

 equipment 

Total  

property and 
equipment  

excluding 

prepayments 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Historical cost 
    

As at 31 December 2018 2.4 3.5 13.9 19.8 
Additions  0.5 0.3 1.5 2.3 

Disposals  -0.3 -0.2 -1.6 -2.1 

As at 31 December 2019 2.6 3.6 13.8 20.0 

     

Accumulated depreciation     
As at 31 December 2018 0.9 1.0 9.3 11.2 

Charge for the period 0.6 0.4 1.4 2.4 

Reversal due to disposals -0.3 -0.2 -1.5 -2.0 

As at 31 December 2019 1.2 1.2 9.2 11.6 

     
Net book value     

As at 31 December 2018 1.5 2.5 4.6 8.6 

As at 31 December 2019 1.4 2.4 4.6 8.4 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

18. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

The following changes in the Group’s property, plant and equipment (including assets leased to customers under operating 

leases) took place during the year ended 31 December 2018: 

 

 

 
 

Leasehold 
improvements 

Transport 
vehicles 

  Office 
 equipment 

Total  

property and 

equipment  

excluding 
prepayments 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Historical cost 
    

As at 31 December 2017 2.1 3.7 16.4 22.2 

Additions  0.8 - 1.8 2.6 

Disposals  -0.5 -0.2 -4.3 -5.0 

As at 31 December 2018 2.4 3.5 13.9 19.8 

     

Accumulated depreciation     

As at 31 December 2017 0.8 0.7 12.2 13.7 
Charge for the period 0.5 0.4 1.4 2.3 

Reversal due to disposals -0.4 -0.1 -4.3 -4.8 

As at 31 December 2018 0.9 1.0 9.3 11.2 

     

Net book value     
As at 31 December 2017 1.3 3.0 4.2 8.5 

As at 31 December 2018 1.5 2.5 4.6 8.6 

 

Leased assets included above where the Group is a lessor comprise assets leased by a Group company to third parties 

under operating leases: 

 2019  2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
Historical cost    

1 January 3.5  3.7 

Additions  0.3  - 

Disposals  -0.2  -0.2 

31 December  3.6  3.5 

    

Accumulated depreciation    

1 January 1.0  0.7 

Charge for the period 0.4  0.4 
On disposals -0.2  -0.1 

31 December 1.2  1.0 

    

Net book value    

31 December 2.4  2.5 

 

Most part of assets leased to customers under operating leases are transport vehicles. 

The future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

(millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    
Not later than 1 year 0.3  0.3 

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 0.9  1.1 

Total minimum lease payments from operating leases 1.2  1.4 
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19. Leases 

Lessee   31/12/2019 

   EUR mil. 

 Income statement   

Interest expense on lease liabilities Net interest income  0 
Expenses relating to short-term leases Other expenses  0.4 

Expenses relating to leases of low-value leases Other expenses  0.1 

    

Depreciation expense of right of use assets 

Depreciation, amortisation and 
impairment of tangible and 

intangible and right of use assets  

3.4 

    

 Statement of financial position   
Additions Right of use assets  0 

Closing balance Right of use assets  10.2 

Lease liabilities Other financial liabilities  9.8 

 
 

Lessor 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

Finance lease    

Undiscounted lease payments expected after reporting date and within 
Year 1 29.5  28 

Year 2 47.6  38.7 

Year 3 67.8  66.6 

Year 4 72.8  69.4 
Year 5 70.1  74.7 

over 5 years 27.8  26.7 

 Total undiscounted lease payments receivable 315.6  304.1 

Unearned finance income -14.1  -14.6 

Discounted unguaranteed residual value -  - 

Net investment leasing 301.5  289.5 
    

Finance income (interest income) on the net investment 7.5  6.8 

Lessor portfolio mainly includes transport vehicles, machinery and facilities. Residual value risk is not significant, because 

of the existence of secondary market. 

20. Provisions   

 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
    

Long term employee benefits1) 2.2  2.4 

Provisions visions for commitments and guarantees given 0.7  0.6 

Total provisions 2.9  3.0 

1) Long term employee benefits position consists of provisions for All Employee Programme deferred amounts. Within All 

Employee Programme half of employees bonus is deferred for  tree-year period and will be based on the total return of A 
class share price of Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ)  
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21. Other financial and non-financial assets and other financial and non-financial liabilities  

 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
    

Receivables 33.4  21.6 

Accrued income 1.8  1.6 

Unfinished card payments 7.1  6.5 

Total other financial assets 42.3  29.7 

    

Repossessed collateral -  0.5 

Deferred expenses 2.8  3.3 
Sub-lease receivables 0.3  - 

Other non-financial assets 3.3  2.7 

Total other non-financial assets 6.4  6.5 

    

Total other assets 48.7   36.2 

    

Client financial payables 74.4  43.5 

Lease liabilities 9.8  - 
Other financial liabilities 0.1  - 

Total other  financial liabilities 84.3   43.5 

    

Deferred income 0.1  0.1 

Accrued future expenses 6.6  5.9 
Other non-financial liabilities 3.7  3.0 

Total other non-financial liabilities 10.4   9.0 

    

Total other liabilities 94.7   52.5 

Financial assets are not overdue, their ECL is not material. Financial assets are not secured by collateral. 

The table below shows credit risk exposures relating to other assets: 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
    

Credit risk exposure of other financial assets 42.3  29.7 

 

22. Deposits from central banks and credit institutions  

 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 
 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

Due to credit institutions registered in OECD area 323.7  542.7 

Due to credit institutions registered in Latvia 1.1  0.9 
Due to credit institutions registered in other countries 2.8  3.1 

Total deposits from central banks and credit institutions 327.6  546.7 

The following table discloses balances due to banks by maturity profile: 

 
 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

On demand 6.0  12.5 
Term deposits  321.6  534.2 

Total balances due to banks 327.6  546.7 

Balances due to related entities of SEB Group are disclosed in Note 29. 98.2% (99.7%) of balances due to banks are 

related to SEB AB. 
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23. Deposits and borrowings from the public  

 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

Maturity profile:    

Demand deposits 3,002.8  2,598.3 
Term deposits  86.4  96.2 

of which remaining maturity after 12 month 0.1  0.1 

of which remaining maturity less than 12 month 86.3  96.1 

Total deposits and borrowings from the public 3,089.2  2,694.5 

 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

Sector profile:    

General governments             245.8   199.7    

Other financial corporations              160.5    94.2    

Non-financial corporations               935.7    806.4    

Households            1,747.2    1,594.2    

Total deposits and borrowings from the public            3,089.2   2,694.5 

 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

Geographical profile:    
Residents  3,025.7  2,607.1 

Non-residents 63.5  87.4 

Total deposits and borrowings from the public 3,089.2  2,694.5 

24. Shareholder’s equity 

The Bank had the following shareholders: 

 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 Paid-in 

share capital 

% of total 

paid-in 
capital 

 Paid-in share 

capital  

% of total 

paid-in 
capital 

 EUR mil.   EUR mil.  

      

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) 145.3 100.00  145.3 100.00 

Total  145.3 100.00  145.3 100.00 

 

As at 31 December 2019 the issued and paid-in share capital is divided into 103,774 thousand (103,774 thousand) 

registered shares with equal voting rights. All shares of the Bank have a par value of EUR 1.40 (EUR 1.40) each. 

Dividends paid out during 2019 amounted to EUR 45.9 million (EUR 70.9 million). 

As of 31 December 2019 general and other non-restricted reserve was EUR 0.3 million (EUR 0.3 million) and share based 

compensation reserve was EUR 0.2 million (EUR 0.3 million), that will be paid in the share capital equivalent of 

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) Class A shares to employees participating in the share based premium program. 

SEB Group has developed long-term equity based programmes as part of remuneration system to build long-term 

commitment to SEB. The long-term equity based variable compensation at SEB shall be determined based on long-term 

equity based variable compensation programme principles developed by the SEB Group and has to be agreed specifically 

with the employee, towards whom it is applied. The programmes, referred to above, are the Share Deferral Program (SDP) 
and Share Matching Program (SMP). 

The purpose of the programmes is to reward senior managers and key employees and to encourage all employees to 

become shareholders in SEB, thereby aligning employee interests with those of shareholders. 

The costs of Share Savings Programme incurred by the Group during the year 2019 were EUR 0.2 million (EUR 0.3 million) 
accounted in Other expenses in the income statement. 
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24.  Shareholder’s equity (continued) 

The above described share-based payments are treated as equity-settled because the Group has no obligation to settle 

the transactions related to Share Savings Programme. 

25. Off-balance sheet liabilities  
 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

Contingent liabilities    

Outstanding financial guarantees 164.4  154.5 

Irrevocable letters of credit 6.9  4.9 

Total contingent liabilities 171.3  159.4 
    

Financial commitments    

Credit commitments  465.1  640.0 

Total financial commitments 465.1  640.0 

There were legal proceedings in which the Bank and its subsidiaries (members of the Group) were involved at 31 

December 2019. No provision for liabilities has been made as the management and professional advisors believe that it 

is unlikely that any material loss will arise. 

The tax authorities may at any time inspect the books and records within 3 years subsequent to the reported tax year and 
may impose additional tax assessments and penalties, if any. The Group's management believes that there are no material 

tax liabilities in the future. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying amount of these off-balance sheet liabilities. 

26. Assets under management  

The Group, through the operations of Private Banking client service centre and the bank’s asset management subsidiary, 

SEB Investment Management, manages short- and long-term investment assets on behalf of clients. The asset 

management operations include management of fund portfolios, Latvian 2nd and 3rd pillar pension savings and institutional 

customers’  investment portfolios. 
 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    
Deposits in banks              107.7   53.5 

Fixed income securities         1,162.9   1,011.3 

Investment funds              407.4   322.5 

Real estate  -   0.1 
Equities                     3.1   3.2 

Total assets under management         1,681.1   1,390.6 

27. Cash and cash equivalents  

The table below provides a breakdown of cash and cash equivalents: 
 

 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    
Cash and balances with central bank without 

mandatory reserves (see Note 12) 571.0  322.1 

Demand deposits with credit institutions 37.8  57.5 

Total cash and cash equivalents 608.8  379.6 
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28. Capital adequacy  

The following table shows the Group’s calculation of the capital adequacy ratio according to the Basel III 

requirements: 

 

No. Position name 
31/12/2019 

EUR mil. 

31/12/2018 

EUR mil. 

 

1. 

 

Own funds (1.1.+1.2.) 316.1 316.1 

1.1. Tier 1 capital (1.1.1+1.1.2.)   316.1 316.1 

1.1.1 Common equity Tier 1 capital 316.1 316.1 

1.1.2 Additional Tier 1 capital    - - 

1.2 Tier 2 capital - - 
 

2. 

 

 

Total risk exposure amount 

(2.1.+2.2.+2.3.+2.4.+2.5.+2.6.+2.7.) 1,828.0 1,802.2 

2.1. 
 

Risk weighted exposure amounts for credit, counterparty credit 
and dilution risks and free deliveries 1,697.6 1,657.3 

2.2. Total risk exposure amount for settlement / delivery - - 
2.3. 

 

Total risk exposure amount for position, foreign exchange and 

commodities risks 1.4 1.3 

2.4. Total risk exposure amount for operational risk (OpR) 129.0 143.6 

2.5. Total risk exposure amount for credit valuation adjustment - - 
2.6. 

 

Total risk exposure amount related to large exposures in the 

trading book - - 

2.7. Other risk exposure amounts   - - 

 

3. 

 

Capital adequacy ratios   

3.1. Common equity Tier 1 Capital ratio (1.1.1/2.*100) 17.3% 17.5% 

3.2. 

 

Surplus (+) / Deficit (-) of Common equity Tier 1 capital (1.1.1.-

2.*4.5%) 234.5 235.0 

3.3. Tier 1 Capital ratio (1.1./2.*100) 17.3% 17.5% 

3.4. Surplus (+) / Deficit (-) of Tier 1 capital (1.1.-2.*6%) 207.1 208.0 

3.5. Total capital ratio (1./2.*100)    17.3% 17.5% 

3.5. Surplus (+) / Deficit (-) of total capital (1.-2.*8%) 170.5 171.9 
 

4. 

 

Combined buffer requirements (4.1.+4.2.+4.3.+4.4.+4.5.)   

4.1. Capital conservation buffer (%)    2.5% 2.5% 

4.2. Institution specific countercyclical buffer (%)   - - 

4.3. Systemic risk buffer (%)1) - - 

4.4. Global Systemically Important Institution buffer (%)   - - 

4.5. Other Systemically Important Institution buffer (%)   1.8% 2.0% 

 

5. Capital adequacy ratios, including adjustments   

5.1. 
 

Impairment or asset value adjustments for capital adequacy ratio 
purposes - - 

5.2. 

 Common equity Tier 1 Capital ratio including line 5.1. adjustments 17.3% 17.5% 

5.3 Tier 1 Capital ratio including line 5.1. adjustments 17.3% 17.5% 

5.4. Total capital ratio including line 5.1. adjustments   17.3% 17.5% 

The Group was in compliance with minimum requirements (8%) on capital adequacy both in 2019 and 2018. 

1)  Systemic risk buffer requirement should be applied to Estonian residents in accordance with FCMC decision from 

October 19, 2016. On December 31, 2019 systemic risk buffer requirement was less than 0.01%. 
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29. Related party transactions  

The following entities and persons have been considered as related parties: 

- members of the Bank’s Management Board and Supervisory Council, other key management and their relatives; 

- The Bank’s Parent company; 
- subsidiaries of the Bank; 

- other SEB Group entities. 

The following balances were held with key management personnel:  

 
 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

 Terms Group Terms Group 

 % EUR mil. % EUR mil. 

     
Loans  0.00 - 12.00 1.6 0.00 - 2.59 1.3 

Deposits  0.00 - 0.70 1.5 0.00 - 23.50 1.4 

Nominal amount of loan commitments, financial guarantees 

and other commitments given 
 0.1  0.1 

Balances due from related companies are analysed as follows: 

 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

 Terms Group Terms Group 

 % EUR mil. % EUR mil. 
     

Correspondent accounts with the Bank’s 

Parent  (0.75) - 8.28 
7.4 

(0.75) - 31.64 42.0 

Correspondent accounts with other credit 
institutions of the SEB Group (0.50) - 1.53 

29.3 
(0.40) - 4.52 12.9 

Total correspondent accounts  36.7  54.9 

     

Loans to other companies of the SEB Group 0.00 1.4 0.00 4.0 

Total loans  1.4  4.0 

     

Derivative financial instruments with the 
Bank’s Parent   

38.3 
 29.1 

Total derivative financial instruments  38.3  29.1 

     

Accrued income and deferred expenses  0.7  0.5 

      

Total balances due from related companies  77.1  88.5 

ECL model is applied to balances due from related companies. Due to high quality of assets ECL amount is immaterial. 
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29.  Related party transactions (continued) 

Balances due to related companies are analysed as follows: 

 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

 Terms Group Terms Group 

 % EUR mil. % EUR mil. 

     

Parent’s correspondent accounts with Bank (0.5) 0.1 (0.40) 7.3 
Correspondent accounts of other credit 

institutions of the SEB Group 
(0.5) 3.3 

(0.40) - 4.52 3.5 

Correspondent accounts of other companies of 

the SEB Group 
0 3.2 

0.00 1.6 

Total correspondent accounts  6.6  12.4 

     
The Parent’s term deposits   (-0.5) - 0.92              322.0  (0.21) - (0.92) 389.4 

Deposits from other institutions of the SEB 

Group 
0 0.5 

0.00 0.4 

Long-term borrowings from the Parent    - (0.15) - (0.14) 145.0 
Derivative financial instruments with the Bank’s 

Parent  
7.5 

 5.3 

     

Accrued expenses and deferred income  0.1  0.1 
      

Total balances due to related companies         336.70     552.6 

     

Nominal amount of loan commitments, financial 

guarantees and other commitments given to the 

Parent 

 
19.0  15.1 

Nominal amount of loan commitments, financial 

guarantees and other commitments given to SEB 

Group companies (except the Parent) 

 
11.0  10.5 

Loan commitments, financial guarantees and 
other commitments received from the Parent 

 
332.0  303.3 

Loan commitments, financial guarantees and 

other commitments received from SEB Group 

companies (except the Parent) 

 
16.6  16.0 

   

The Group’s income/expenses transactions with its related companies are analysed as follows: 

 

 2019  2018 

 Parent Other 

entities 

 Parent Other 

entities 

 EUR mil. EUR mil.  EUR mil. EUR mil. 

      

Interest income from money market transactions 0.6 -  0.5 - 

Commission income                         1.0  0.8  1.2 0.7 

Received payments for services 0.5 -0.4  0.2 -1.2 

Interest expense on credit resources -0.9 -  -0.9 - 

Interest expense on deposits -1.1 -0.1  -1.3 -0.1 

Commission expense -0.6 -0.4  -0.3 -0.4 

Fee for services -1.5 -3.8  -1.0 -1.9 

Insurance premiums -0.1 -  -0.1 - 

Subtotal -2.1 -3.9  -1.7 -2.9 

See also Note 9 regarding remuneration to key management personnel. 
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30. Encumbered assets  

Encumbered assets of the Group in the amount of EUR 0.09 million (EUR 0.10 million) are comprised of security deposits 

with other economic and basic activities partners. 

31. Return on equity and return on assets  

 

 2019  2018 

    

Return on average equity (ROAE) 13.15%  12.52% 

Return on average assets (ROAA) 1.28%  1.39% 

Both return ratios are calculated based on FCMC regulations, taking annual average from monthly balances. ROAE is 

calculated as net profit for the year divided by annual average total equity. ROAA is calculated as net profit for the year 

divided by annual average total assets. 

32. Financial instruments by measurement categories  

The following tables provide a reconciliation of classes of the Group’s financial assets with these measurement categories: 

 

31/12/2019 FVHFT FVMPL AmC Total 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Assets     

Cash and balances with central 

bank  -   -               602.3               602.3  

Receivables from credit 
institutions  -   -                  39.6                  39.6  

Loans to the public  -   -          3,028.1          3,028.1  

Debt securities  -               150.6   -               150.6  

Derivatives                  44.7   -   -                  44.7  
Equity instruments  -                      8.5   -                      8.5  

Other financial assets  -   -                  42.3                  42.3  

Total financial assets                 44.7               159.1          3,712.3          3,916.1  

Non-financial assets -  -                  37.1                  37.1  

Total assets                 44.7               159.1          3,749.4          3,953.2  

  

31/12/2018 FVHFT FVMPL AmC Total 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Assets     

Cash and balances with central 

bank - - 350.1 350.1 
Receivables from credit 

institutions - - 58.5 58.5 

Loans to the public - - 2,957.9  2,957.9 

Debt securities - 254.9 - 254.9 
Derivatives  34.0 - - 34.0 

Equity instruments - 5.9 - 5.9 

Other financial assets - - 29.7 29.7 

Total financial assets 34.0 260.8 3,396.2 3,691.0 

Non-financial assets - - 27.6 27.6 

Total assets 34.0 260.8 3,423.8 3,718.6 

As of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, all of the Group’s and Bank’s financial liabilities, except for derivatives 

and short positions in securities, were carried at amortised cost. Derivatives and short positions in securities belong to the 

fair value through profit or loss measurement category. 
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33. Events after the balance sheet date  

Recent pandemic outbreak of the coronavirus Covid-19 and government’s response measures in attempt to limit its 

spread, have affected all areas of the economy and society. The Group` s direct exposure to industries that at this point 

are hit the most, as e.g. hotels and restaurants, transportation, tourism, is limited. Nevertheless taking into account the 
forecasted recession, it would certainly have a much wider spillover effect.  

The Group has been assessing current exposures for potential problem areas, however it is not possible to estimate exact 

scope of the impact. The Group intends to support customers facing financial difficulties caused by the pandemic. The 

intensity of the support will depend on the length of the proclaimed emergency situation, its exact effects on the economy 
and on the decisions and supporting activities undertaken by the government. 

At the reporting date even though the information on first coronavirus cases in China was known, there were no indications 

to expect a pandemic and local effects of such magnitude to adjust in the ECL calculations the negative scenario 

likelihood’s proportion for Latvian economy. 

 In regards of the fair valuation assumptions used at the reporting date, the current knowledge of the outbreak would not 

have affected the applied valuation principles. Positions are fair valued based on direct or observable market information 

which is seen as representative of the market at the reporting date. 

Riho Unt will  leave position of Chairman of the Supervisory Council after Q2 2020. 

34. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity 

34.1. Income Statement of the Bank  

(millions of EUR) 

  2019   2018  

       

       

Interest income  66.0   61.4  

Interest expense  -8.9   -7.9  

Net interest income  57.1   53.5  

       

Fee and commission income  51.2   49.2  

Fee and commission expense  -17.1   -17.4  

Net fee and commission income  34.1   31.8  

       

Net financial income  8.7   7.3  

       

Dividends   2.6   0.1  

Other operating income  2.5   3.2  

Net other income  5.1   3.3  

       

Personnel expenses  -25.1   -24.3  

Depreciation, amortization and impairment of  

tangible and intangible assets 

 

-6.9   -3.6  

Other expenses  -21.3   -21.4  

Total operating expenses  -53.3   -49.3  

       

Credit loss  -4.5   - 0.8  

       

Profit before income tax  47.2   45.8  

       

Income tax expenses  -   -  

       

Net profit for the year  47.2   45.8  
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34. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity (continued) 

34.2. Statement of Financial Position of the Bank  

(millions of EUR) 

  31/12/2019   31/12/2018 

Assets      

Cash and balances with central bank  602.3      350.1 

Receivables from credit institutions  39.6      58.5 

Loans to the public  3,011.9      2,947.6 

Debt securities  150.6   254.6 
Derivatives  44.7   34.0 

Equity instruments  8.5   5.9 

Investments in subsidiaries  5.0    5.0 

Intangible assets  8.7    9.2 
Property, plant and equipment  6.2    6.2 

Right of use assets  10.1   - 

Investment property  0.1   - 

Current income tax assets  2.4   2.4 
Other financial assets  41.8   29.1 

Other non-financial assets  2.7   3.2 

Total assets  3,934.6    3,705.8 

      

Liabilities      

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions  327.6    546.7 

Deposits and borrowings from the public  3,101.0    2,703.8 
Derivatives  45.9    34.1 

Provisions  2.7   5.3 

Other financial liabilities  77.4   38.5 

Other non-financial liabilities  7.7   6.4 

Total liabilities  3,562.3    3,334.8 

      

Equity      

     

Share capital  145.3    145.3 

Share premium  5.1    5.1 

Other reserves  0.5    0.6 
Retained earnings  221.4    220.0 

Total equity  372.3    371.0 

      

Total liabilities and equity  3,934.6    3,705.8 
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34. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity (continued) 

34.3. Statement of Changes in the Equity of the Bank  

(millions of EUR) 

 

Paid-in 

share 

capital 

Share 

premium 

Other 

reserves 

Revaluation 

reserve on 
investment 

securities 

available-

for-sale  

Retained 

earnings TOTAL 

       

Balance at 31 December 2017 145.3 5.1 0.6 0.6 240.2 391.8 

Effect of applying IFRS 9* - - - -0.6 4.6 4.0 

Restated balance at 1 January 2018 145.3 5.1 0.6 - 244.8 395.8 

Profit for the year - - - - 45.8 45.8 

Total comprehensive income for the 

year - - - - 45.8 45.8 

Dividend (Note 24) - - - - -70.9 -70.9 

Share-based compensation - - 0.3 - - 0.3 

Realisation of share-based 

compensation - - -0.3 - 0.3 - 

Balance at 31 December 2018 145.3 5.1 0.6 - 220.0 371.0 

Effect of applying IFRS 16** - - - - -0.1 -0.1 

Restated balance at 1 January 2018 - - - - 219.9 370.9 

Profit for the year - - - - 47.1 47.1 

Total comprehensive income for the 

year - - - - 47.1 47.1 

Dividend (Note 24) - - - - -45.9 -45.9 

Share-based compensation - - 0.2 - - 0.2 

Realisation of share-based 

compensation - - -0.3 - 0.3 - 

Balance at 31 December 2019 145.3 5.1 0.5  221.4 372.3 
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34. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity (continued) 

34.4. Statement of Cash Flows of the Bank  

(millions of EUR) 

 

 2019  2018 
    

Cash flows from operating activities    

Profit before income tax  47.2  45.8 

Amortisation and depreciation of intangible assets and 
property and equipment 3.5  3.4 

Increase in allowances for loan impairment 4.5  0.8 

Interest income on loans -64.2  -60.2 

Interest expense on customer and bank deposits 1.6  1.3 
Profit / (loss) from revaluation of foreign currency 1.5  1.9 

Loss / (profit) from disposal of tangible property and 

equipment  0.1  - 

Lease expenses 3.8  - 
Dividends received -2.5  - 

Increase in share based compensations 0.2  0.3 

(Increase) / decrease in other assets  -10.9  -19.4 

Increase/ (decrease) in other liabilities 27.4  5.7 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents from operating 
activities  before changes in assets and liabilities 12.2  -20.4 

    

(Increase) / decrease in loans to credit institutions and 

mandatory reserve in central bank -3.3  1.9 
Increase / (decrease) of securities designated at fair value 

through profit or loss 104.0  32.5 

(Increase) / Decrease in balances due from banks -0.8  7.0 

Increase in loans and advances to customers -69.0  -309.6 
Increase / (decrease) in balances due to banks -219.1  -290.0 

Increase in deposits due to customers 397.1  321.5 

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from 

operating activities before income taxes 221.1  -257.1 

    
Interest received from loans issued 64.4  60.4 

Interest paid on customer and bank deposits -1.5  -1.2 

Income tax paid -  -2.8 

Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities 284.0  -200.7 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Purchase of property and equipment   -3.0  -3.8 
Sale of property and equipment 0.1  0.1 

Increase in investment securities -2.7  -2.4 

Dividends received 2.5  - 

Net cash (used in) / generated from investing activities -3.1  -6.1 

    
Cash flows from financing activities    

Lease liabilities -4.3  - 

Dividends paid out -45.9  -70.9 

Net cash used in financing activities -50.2  -70.9 

    

Net cash inflow / (outflow) for the year 230.7  -277.7 

    
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 379.6  659.2 

    

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents -1.5  -1.9 

    

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 608.8  379.6 
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34. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity (continued) 

34.5. Capital adequacy of the Bank  

The following table shows the Bank’s calculation of the capital adequacy ratio according to the Basel III 

requirements: 
 

No. Position name 
31/12/2019 

EUR mil. 

31/12/2018 

EUR mil. 

 
1. 

 
Own funds (1.1.+1.2.) 301.7 307.6 

1.1. Tier 1 capital (1.1.1+1.1.2.)   301.7 307.6 

1.1.1 Common equity Tier 1 capital 301.7 307.6 

1.1.2 Additional Tier 1 capital    - - 

1.2 Tier 2 capital - - 

 

2. 

 

 

Total risk exposure amount 

(2.1.+2.2.+2.3.+2.4.+2.5.+2.6.+2.7.) 1,677.7 1,641.0 
2.1. 

 

Risk weighted exposure amounts for credit, counterparty credit 

and dilution risks and free deliveries 1,557.8 1,506.5 

2.2. Total risk exposure amount for settlement / delivery - - 

2.3. 

 

Total risk exposure amount for position, foreign exchange and 

commodities risks 0.5 0.3 

2.4. Total risk exposure amount for operational risk (OpR) 119.4 134.2 

2.5. Total risk exposure amount for credit valuation adjustment - -  

2.6. 

 

Total risk exposure amount related to large exposures in the 

trading book - - 

2.7. Other risk exposure amounts   - - 

 

3. 

 

Capital adequacy ratios   

3.1. Common equity Tier 1 Capital ratio (1.1.1/2.*100) 18.0% 18.7% 

3.2. 
 

Surplus (+) / Deficit (-) of Common equity Tier 1 capital (1.1.1.-
2.*4.5%) 226.2 233.7 

3.3. Tier 1 Capital ratio (1.1./2.*100) 18.0% 18.7% 

3.4. Surplus (+) / Deficit (-) of Tier 1 capital (1.1.-2.*6%) 201.0 209.1 

3.5. Total capital ratio (1./2.*100)    18.0% 18.7% 

3.5. Surplus (+) / Deficit (-) of total capital (1.-2.*8%) 167.5 176.3 

 

4. 

 

Combined buffer requirements (4.1.+4.2.+4.3.+4.4.+4.5.)   

4.1. Capital conservation buffer (%)    2.5% 2.5% 

4.2. Institution specific countercyclical buffer (%)   - - 

4.3. Systemic risk buffer (%)1) - - 

4.4. Systemically important institution buffer (%)   - - 

4.5. Other systemically important institution buffer (%)   1.8% 2.0% 

 

5. Capital adequacy ratios, including adjustments   
5.1. 

 

Impairment or asset value adjustments for capital adequacy ratio 

purposes - - 

5.2. 

 Common equity Tier 1 Capital ratio including line 5.1. adjustments 18.0% 18.7% 

5.3 Tier 1 Capital ratio including line 5.1. adjustments 18.0% 18.7% 

5.4. Total capital ratio including line 5.1. adjustments   18.0% 18.7% 

 

 
The Bank was in compliance with minimum requirements (8%) on capital adequacy both in 2019 and 2018. 
1)  Systemic risk buffer requirement should be applied to Estonian residents in accordance with FCMC decision from 

October 19, 2016.  

  












